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About Funcom

Funcom is an independent developer and publisher of quality
online games for a world-wide audience of gamers. Funcom is con-
sidered tobe akey contender in the western MMO (Massively Multi-
player Online Games) market and the company has numerous
exciting projects in development. Today Funcom is Europe’s largest
developer of virtual worlds, and the company has a positive out-

look for the future.

Funcom was founded in 1993 and the company has
released more than twenty games to date. Funcom
has been an independent developer since 1999.
Through the years it has gathered great experience
indevelopingand operating bothsingle-player titles
and Massively Multiplayer Online games. This
experience is invaluable when providing the live
services for Anarchy Online and Age of Conan, and
theknowhowgained from those two projectsis further
leveragedinto thedevelopment of the flagship MMO
title The Secret World, as well as the new free-to-
play MMO games.

2008 was an eventful year for Funcom, and never
before has the Company been able to reach as many
fans and gamers with its products. The core focus
was naturally Age of Conan: Hyborian Adventures,
which had an enormous interest up to the launch in
May 2008. The anticipation for the title was so high
that the game pre-sold more than any original PC
game launchinhistory,andin thelaunch period the
title was number one on the charts in more than 17
countries. As a result Funcom shipped 1,2 million
copies of the game to retailers. In North America,
the most prominent online gaming market in the
west, Age of Conan became the third best-selling PC
Game of 2008, only beaten by World of Warcraft and
Spore.

While the launch of Age of Conan went smoothly,
customer retention was lower than anticipated,
leading to a decline in the number of subscribers.
However, as anticipated the many updates to the
gamethroughout 2008 haveresultedinanimproved
experience for Conan players and a significant im-
provement in subscriber retention. As Age of Conan
continues to receive more and more favorable feed-
back from players and in important new markets,
Funcom are looking forward to the many updates
and initiatives planned for 2009.
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Anarchy Online also performed well in 2008, and it
will celebrate its eight-year anniversary in June
2009.The numberof subscribersremainedatasatis-
factory level and Funcom remains dedicated to its
on-going development and support. A new Game
Director was appointed for Anarchy Online, and his
team spearheaded the development of the new
booster Pack Anarchy Online - Legacy of The Xan,
was launched February 1stin 2009.

Bytheendof 2008 some 300 employees worked full-
time in Funcom, located in offices in Switzerland,
Norway, USA and China. While some operations
were scaled back after the Conan launch, most no-
ticeablyon Customer Serviceand Quality Assurance,
manyother teams sawa growth in staff most notably
in China. Throughout the year Funcom continued its
focus on improving all areas of the organization, as
well as improving the processes involved in the
development of complex game worlds. With funds
andmeans toprofessionalize the organization Funcom
was not only able to scale up for the launch of Age of
Conan, but also to start development of two free-to-
play MMOs as well as continue the development on
The Secret World and Anarchy Online.

While extensive work was done on improving all
internal processes, the external gaming market
continued to grow, and the market projections for
the next few years are positive. The MMO market
also continued to grow, and especially the free-to-
play MMO market has increased significantly over
the last year. As a result of this continued growth
Funcom started full development on two free-to-
play MMO projects, whilst entering the research
phase fora third.

2|



Withasmallerteamsize, ashorterdevelopmentcycle
and skilled people on the new teams, Funcom aims
to also emerge as a leading independent developer
of free-to-play MMO games. The genre will comple-
ment Funcom flagship titles such as Age of Conan
and The Secret World, while strengthening the
overall product portfolio. The genre also provides a
potentialentry point for future generations of MMO
gamers and allows Funcom to pursue new revenue
opportunities.

In the growing online gaming market Funcom
remains one of the few MMO companies with the
funds, staff, know-how, technology and strategy for
becoming aleaderin the years to come.

More information about Funcom can be found on
www.funcom.com
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Letter from the CEO

2008 wasamajorbreak pointin the historyof Funcom.
We launched the Age of Conan MMO (Massively
Multiplayer Online Game) after several years of
development, to great expectations and fanfare.
The launch was surprisingly free of technical is-
sues, and was definitely one of the smoothest
launches among major MMOlaunchesin the Western
world. In the weeks following the launch, press and
gamer feedback was enthusiastic and positive. And
the game topped the sales charts in 17 markets
across the world simultaneously. Now that 2008 has
passed, and the year’s sales summaries arearriving,
we see that Age of Conan was the third best selling
PCgamein the Western world in 2008.

The launch and sales success of Age of Conan is
something we at Funcom are very proud of. We have
proven that we can compete, launch and sell games
globally, in competition with the largest players in
the world, and perform very well. This bodes very
well for future launches of Funcom games.

Despite thelaunch successof Age of Conan, the game
did not, however, develop as we had expected.
Customer retention in the game turned out to be
lower than expected leading toadecreasein customer
numbers. Our analysis, and customer surveys,
pointed to a lack of long-term affinity for the game.
Players almost unanimously enjoyed the game for
quite some time, but after having played the game
for months, quite a few gamers didn't find the game
compelling enough to keep playing. Our analysis
pointed to the role-playing rule set and system of
thegameasamainissueinthisrespect - thesystem
was not accessible enough for the players and didn't
provide the players with enough freedom to specialize
and optimize their game characters for the different
tasks in the game. It is the key to get this right in
MMOs, tokeep thelong-terminterest of the gamers.
It seemed that the creative decisions for the RPG
system of Age of Conan to make the game very
accessible to casual players by keeping systems for-
giving and simple, had gone too far, and the simpler
system took away parts of the fun for many of our
players.Inadditionafewof thehigher-levelin-game
systems turned out to be less polished and had more
issues than knownat launch.
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The Company of course started working on the issues
identified during the summer of 2008. During the
summer and fall a significant amount of changes
and improvements were done to the game experi-
ence and our players responded very well to these
changes.

At the time of writing, the customer retention in
Age of Conan has improved significantly. The sub-
scriber levels have stabilized in early 2009, and the
feedback from players is very positive, both to the
general game play experience of the game and to-
wards the launched and planned updates of the
game. We are very satisfied that the hard work of
the Age of Conan team during the fall of 2008is being
met with such positive feedback from our gamer
community.

Funcom continues to invest in the Age of Conan
game and currently has around 120 people working
on the game, excluding customer service. The next
6-9 months will show whether we again can enter a
growth phase with the game. Key to achieving this
will be our trial marketing efforts that will start
shortly. With the expected future improvements in
customer retention for Age of Conan, the subscriber
base maybeincreased if the Companyisabletogeta
very wide distribution of the trials of Age of Conan
and get a good conversion from trials to paying
customers.

In parallel to the continued focus on Age of Conan,
Funcomhasprogressedsignificantlywiththedevelop-
ment of its other games. Funcom’s next large scale
MMOQ, The Secret World, is progressing well, and we
look forward tostarting PRand communityactivities
for this game during 2009. At present Funcom has
around 80 people working on the development of
The Secret World. Funcom's two free-to-play initia-
tives are also developing nicely. These are smaller,
more focused MMOs that will rely on a pure digital
distribution model. Each of these two MMOs cur-
rentlyhasastaffing of around 15 people. Inaddition,
Anarchy Online is still maintaining an active and
devoted playerbase, eagerly playing the game’s fifth
booster/expansion pack that wasreleased in February
2009. The game will soon celebrate its 8th anniver-
sary - a true testimony to the longevity of MMOs.
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2008alsosaw Funcom develop significantlyin terms
of organization, technology and processes. Funcom
today has a pool of talented team members that is
uniquely experienced in the MMO segment. And the
Company keeps improvingits development processes
through theactive participation of our team members.
In 2008, Funcom introduced agile development pro-
cesses in most teams, with higher development
transparency, involvement and predictability as a
result. Funcom also established a Tech department
for the continued development of our DreamWorld
MMOEngine. This engine will be powering our future
large scale MMOs. The DreamWorld engine is al-
readyone of the mostadvanced MMO engines in the
world, as demonstratedin the numerous outstanding
featuresin Age of Conan,and continuedinvestments
in the game engine should enable the Company to
maintain its competitive edge and advantage for
future games.

Funcom has an exciting year ahead. As we start
revealing information about our next major MMO,
The Secret World, weanticipate significant enthusiasm
among gamers and we look forward to establishing
the community for this game and start exchanging
information and receiving feedback from our future
players.Inaddition, we are eager to see how our Age
of Conan players will respond to the future game up-
dates we are working on and we hope our planned
PR, community, marketing and sales activities will
attract many new players to the game. As we start
Beta-testing our new free-to-play MMOs, we also
takeanimportant stepintoanewmarket for Funcom,
andwe eagerlyawait theresponse to theseinitiatives
from testers and players. 2009 is definitely set to be
anexcitingyearand wehereat Funcomwilldefinitely
doour utmost toalso make ita successful year.

Best regards

gl A A

Trond Arne Aas
Chief Executive Officer,
Funcom NV.
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AGE OF CONAN:

HYBORIAN ADVENTURES

Launching in May last year, Age of Conan quickly became a smash
hitinretail, shipping over 1,2 million copiesaround the world, and
pre-selling more than any other original PC game in history. In
North America, the most prominent online gaming market in the
west, Age of Conanbecame the third best-selling PC Game of 2008,
only beaten by World of Warcraft and Spore.

Intheweeksafterlaunch Age of Conansimultaneously
topped the chartsin 17 countries, even on some all-
format lists. This showed the huge craving in the
market forbrutalbarbarian MMO fun, furtherhigh-
lighted by the fact that 15 million unique visitors
came to the Age of Conan website during 2008. This
shows Funcom’s ability to market and deliver games
with great appeal, and the many insights gained
from theprojectarealreadybeing implementedinto
all upcoming games.

After a disappointing autumn, where subscriber
levels declined, the game’s communityis today very
strong and positive, and the subscriber levels have
stabilized.

A great deal of care and attention was taken to lis-
ten to customer feedback and the production team
has successfully focused on the areas highlighted
through that feedback. With a host of new content
additions and improvements added since launch,
the team continues to concentrate onimproving the
customer experience.

By continuing to focus on the core tenants of the
games original vision - creating the most detailed
andvisceral persistentworldyetreleasedand bring-
ing the harsh and brutal nature of the license to the
fore with a the unique and engaging combat system
- thedesign teamis expandingupon the game’s con-
tent and have already released several large, well
received, content additions that have earned praise
from customers and the press alike.
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With a strong focus on the community elements of
the online experience over the coming year the
team also hopes to improve the customer retention.
Thiswillmainlybeachieved throughbetterengage-
ment with the game community and improvements
to the community tools and systems within the
game to encourage and develop the community and
social networking aspects of MMO game-play.

2009 will also see continued work on the improve-
ments to the games RPGsystem to furtherbuildand
diversify the character progression paths for play-
ersaswellasfocusingonexpanding the Playerversus
Player (PVP) systems and features within the game.

The game has launched in exciting new markets
such as Russia and Poland, and a Korean version is
also in development. In addition, Funcom will start
full digital distribution of the title, allowing MMO
players who have not tried Age of Conan to get a free
trial of the game.

Withanupcomingexpansionpack, numerous market-
inginitiatives,and amuchbetter player experience,
Funcom has positive outlooks for Age of Conan's
future,and the companywill work to make the game
aleading MMO title for many years to come.

For more information about Age of Conan please
visit www.ageofconan.com
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THE SECRET WORLD

Dark Days Are Coming...

An ancient evil stirs. Deadly creatures from myth and legend are
crawling out of the hidden places. The Earth is in mortal peril,
The secret world is about to open up.

The fate of the world hangs in the balance. Regular people have
been chosen to take up arms in the coming battle between the
forces of light and the forces of darkness. Future warriors and
champions of Gaia granted superhuman powers, their occult train-

ing is about to begin.

The Secret World is a contemporary MMO for Windows
and Xbox 360 that mixesaction,adventureandrole-
playingin a freshand exciting multiplayer setting -
the modern day real world.

Players teamup toexplore legendarylocations, battle
terrifying monsters, take on missions and solve
mysteries,learn the truthbehindancient mythsand
forgotten history, developand evolve their characters,
socialize with players from around the world, and
play through a deep and engaging storyline from
the creators of The Longest Journey, Dreamfall and
Anarchy Online.
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The Secret World is Funcom's third generation MMO,
andisbuiltusing the proprietary DreamWorld Engine
and expertise gained through more thana decade of
developing award winning massively multiplayer
and single-player games. More than eighty develop-
ers in Oslo and Beijing are working on both game
featuresand content, including the corerole-playing
system and combat, character creation, and a selec-
tion of locations and missions.

PR and community building on this Funcom created
brand will commence during spring 2009 - using
both traditionalchannels as wellas viral marketing
and Alternate Reality Gaming - revealing more as-
pects of The Secret World to an expectant audience
of MMO and action-adventure gamers.
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ANARCHY ONLINE

Closing in on celebrating eight years online, Anarchy Online has
continued to cement its reputation as one of the most compelling
and immersive MMO experiences available.

With a consistent and dedicated following Anarchy
Online has continued to perform nicelyin 2008. New
content and production updates have continued to
build on the strengths of the product for both sub-
scribersand freeplayersalike. With the free-to-play
model continuing toadd hundreds of newarrivals to
the world of Rubi-Ka each and every day, the game’s
thriving community continues to be one of the most
dynamic and engaging communities in the MMO
segment. The games’ unique and deep game-play
mechanics have allowed the Company to keep build-
ing new elements that work towards retaining the
subscriber base while strengtheningitwith the con-
tinued influx of free players, and their conversion
into paying customers.

Funcom's successful partnership with Massive
Incorporated continues to monetize the free-to-play
customer base through in-game advertising. In
addition the expansion of the ‘paid points’ system
(the payment mechanism introduced in 2007 that
allows users to purchase special credits that can be
used through the Company’s billing system orin the
game itself, to purchase special individual social
items)hasallowed the Company to offer more options
and items for players to purchase including exclu-
sivelimited availability seasonalitems that provide
incentives for ongoing participation in the system.

@ ANNUAL REPORT | 2008

With the upcoming addition of new paid content
boosters, special game updates that introduce new
areas of the game world for a small additional fee,
the team has been working on both free and paid
content throughout 2008 that continues to supply
the player base with hours and hours of new game-
play experiences and content. This will continue to
be a focus through 2009.

This new content combined with the now developed
and established revenue streams mentioned above
means that Anarchy Online remains on a firm foot-
ing movinginto the future, and continues to provide
the Company with opportunities to gain important
experience for future titles. Funcom’s dedicated and
talented team has continued to be developed and
used to educate and build fresh new talent for the
Company to ensure that Anarchy Online remains
the most compelling science fiction MMO on the
market.

More information about Anarchy Online can be
found on www.anarchy-online.com
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FREE TO PLAY GAMES

Funcom moves into free-to-play gaming space with three free-to-

play MMO projects.

Overthelast fewyearscasualand free-to-playgaming
has grown immensely in size, and the genre has
significantly expanded the market-size for online
gaming. These games are generally made with
smaller teams, focusing on a younger audience and
the business models are based around free game-
play and the sale of virtual items or premium
subscriptions. With its appeal to wider demographics,
the casual and free-to-play online genre is set to
continue its growth. In 2008 Funcom started full
development on two free-to-play projects, while a
third oneisinaresearch phase.
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All the new free-to-play games will utilize Funcom'’s
established, and proven, online infrastructure, giving
Funcom an advantage towards new entries to the
market. All of the upcoming games are also played
in internet browsers, meaning small install, easy
entry,and access toboth Macand PCusers.

Withasmallerteamsize, ashorterdevelopmentcycle
and skilled people on the new teams, Funcom aims
to also emerge as a leading independent developer
of free-to-play MMO games. The genre will comple-
ment Funcom flagship titles such as Age of Conan
and The Secret World, while strengthening the overall
product portfolio. The genre also provides a poten-
tialentry point for future generations of MMO gam-
ers, allowing Funcom to pursue new and exciting
revenue opportunities.
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THE DREAMWORLD

TECHNOLOGY

The trademarked DreamWorld engine is the technological foun-
dation on which Age of Conan, The Secret World and future MMO
flagship games will be built. This proprietary MMO engine gives
Funcom a unique competitive advantage, and allows faster and
more secure development and deployment of upcoming MMO games.

A key part of the Funcom strategy has been to
develop a proprietary MMO engine. The Dream-
World engine eases thedevelopmentand deployment
process for future online games. This will enable
the Company torapidly develop prototypesandearly
versions of new games with limited staff, to test new
game concepts’ feasibility before committing large
resources to the projects. Having a proprietary tech-
nology base also enables the company to specialize
and develop unique features for its games.
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Key components of the DreamWorld Engine include
the flexible and powerful world-creation software,
Genesis, thescripting software, SCRY, theanimation
and combat systems, tools, and the powerful graphics
module. The DreamWorld technology has for Age of
Conanbeenakeyenablerincreatingwhatisgenerally
considered the most advanced MMO in operation in
the world at the moment. And Funcom continues its
strong development focuson the DreamWorld Engine
and currently has around 30 programmers working
with the technology.
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Report of the

Management Board

FUNCOM'S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The operational objective of the company, as stated
in article 2 of the Articles of Association shall be to
develop, market and carry on business in computer
games, hereunder massively multiplayer online
games, onlinerole playing games and related games
on electronicdevices of differentkinds. The financial
objective of the company is to maximize the return
oninvestment to the shareholders.

The strategy designed to achieve these objectives
includes to take and grant licenses and other indus-
trial property interests, assume commitments in
the name of any enterprise with which it may be
associated within a group of companies, to take
financial interests in such enterprises and to take
anyotheraction,suchasbutnotlimited tothegrant-
ing of securities or the undertaking of obligations
on behalf of third parties, which in the broadest
sense of the term, may be related or contribute to
the aforesaid objectives.

The key parameters to be applied to the strategy
are; number of players per game, churn of playersin
each game, aswell as the lifetime of the games.

REVIEW OF FUNCOM'S FINANCIAL POSITION
IAND FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR 2008

Funcom's revenue for 2008 was TUSD 39.925 com-
pared to TUSD 4.621 in 2007, when adjusted for the
revenues related to Plutolife, the mobile subsidiary
that was sold in 2008. The corresponding operating
result for 2008 was TUSD -26.707 compared to TUSD
- 6.728 in 2007. Fully diluted earnings per share
were USD -0,64 compared to USD 0.04 in 2007
Funcom's equity stood at TUSD 58.353 at year-end
2008, compared to TUSD 92.147 at year-end 2007.
The group had cash at the end of 2008 of TUSD
39.396 compared to TUSD 52.366 at the end of 2007,
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Funcom's accounts have been prepared on a going
concern basis, and the Funcom group follows IFRS
reporting. Going forward, Funcom will continue to
invest into its existing games and new games, and
the company should be sufficiently financed to com-
pletetheprojects thatarein production. Thecompany’s
research and development consists primarily of
software development, game design and graphics
investments.

MAIN DEVELOPMENTS

The much anticipated Age of Conan game was
launched in May 2008 in Europe and the US, and the
game got a very strong reception in the market
place, where it topped the sales charts in all major
markets and received strong reviews. Age of Conan
was the third best-selling PC game in 2008 in the
US market, after World of Warcraft and Spore, and
the game achieved similar levels of successin other
key markets. Shorter average subscription periods
than anticipated led to a decline in the number of
subscribers following the launch of Age of Conan. As
a result of the considerable improvements done to
the game during 2008, the subscriber levels have
been relatively stable in 2009. The Secret World,
Funcom's second full fledge MMO in development
progressed well and has several playable playfields
in place. Funcom has also three free-to-play MMOs
in development in 2008. Two of these are in its
production phase.

In 2008 Funcom NV. sold its interest in Plutolife,

thereby concluding its involvement in the mobile
gamingand community sector.
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MARKET DEVELOPMENT

In 2008, the Massively Multiplayer Online (MMO)
gaming market continued to grow, driven amongst
other by the game World of Warcraft (Blizzard /
Vivendi) which now has over 11 million subscribers
world wide. The success of this game has demon-
strated the increasing size of the market, and par-
ticularlythecompetitivenessof MMO gamescompared
to traditional single-player computer- & console
games. The World of Warcraft expansion pack, Wrath
of the Lich King, was launched during December
2008 and broke all historical records for PC games.
The number of companies with the critical mass and
the skills required to be able to compete within the
MMO segment remains limited, and there are still
fewlarge-scale games being launched each year.

This is due to the extensive experience and long
time required to develop a new MMO game. In 2008,
Warhammer Online was launched by Mythic, a sub-
sidiary of Electronic Arts. The game experienced
difficulties afteraninitialsales success,andreported
only 300.000 customers some three monthsafterits
launch, significantly lower than Age of Conan at the
same time in the game’s development.

PRODUCT & TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT

During the year, Funcom made significant progress
with its titles Age of Conan and The Secret World in
addition to its free-to-play MMO initiatives. The
launch of Age of Conan has given proof that Funcom
has the competencyand capacity tolaunch complex,
large scale MMOs to a world market. In addition,
Funcom has maintained a relatively stable player
base onits existing MMO Anarchy Online.

Funcom's key technology platform, the DreamWorld
Technology, which is the basis for Age of Conan, The
Secret World and future MMOs, has during the past
year been significantly upgraded, and is considered
astrong competitive asset for the company.
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FUTURE QUTLOOK

Funcom has during the past few years restructured
the company and built a new platform for future
growth and profitability. The Board expects, how-
ever, a reduction in revenues in 2009 compared to
2008 when the Age of Conan game was launched.
Thelargest short term potential for the Companyis
the continued development and improvement of the
Age of Conan game, which if positive will have its
main financial impact from the second half of 2009
and onwards.

INTERNAL & EXTERNALENVIRONMENT

As of 31 December 2008, the group employed 302
employees excluding Customer Service personnel.
Funcom recognizes that its key assets are its em-
ployees and is committed to maintain a stimulating
working environment that offers the opportunity
for both personal- and professional development.
This is also necessary to continue to attract and
retain highly qualified employees within the gaming
industry.

Sick leave in the group is stable and amounts to less
than 4%. No serious work-related incidents or acci-
dents have occurred or have been reported during
the year. The working environment is good, and the
company does not carry out activities that signifi-
cantly pollute the environment. The Group welcomes
applications for employment from all sectors of the
community and strives to promote equality of
opportunityin employment forall.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND CAPITAL

The main principle of Funcom's shareholder policy
istomaximize thereturntoshareholders over time.
Funcom will ensure that information is communi-
cated to themarketequallyand that theinformation
providesanaccurateviewof thestatusof the company
in material respects on an ongoing basis. The
company has one class of shares and each share has
one vote at General Meetings. At the end of 2008,
Funcom had a share capital of TUSD 2.719 consist-
ing of 52.832 125 shares with a nominal value of
EUR0.04 pershare.Inaddition, thereareoutstanding
option programsof 1 716 568 options for employees
and bord members.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Management Board believes that Funcom NV.
adheres to good practices in the field of financial
reporting, governance and control, equal treatment
of shareholders and other areas in the governance
area. The Supervisory Board plays an independent
roleinrelation to the Management Board. All shares
have equal rights and shareholders have equal
access toallmaterialinformation published by Funcom
via the Oslo Stock Exchange and the company’s web-
site www.funcom.com, including financial reports,
presentations, share information and presentation
of the Supervisory Board.

In terms of internal risk management and control
systems, the company has made enhancementsduring
2008.In 2008 Funcom proceeded witha risk analysis
and discussed it with the Supervisory Board.

The Companyalsosetupaninternal controlstructure
that includes plans and budgets, segregation of
duties as well as authorization schemes. This was
discussed with the Supervisory Board. During the
year the Companydid not receive or discoverindica-
tions that thecontrols were noteffective for thesize
of the Company. During the yearit performed certain
monitoring procedures such as high level reviews
and comparisons to plans and budgets and this has
confirmed the Company’s view. As the company is
continuing to grow and mature, Funcom'’s manage-
ment will focus on improving its internal control
structure and processes even further. Management
believes thattheinternal controlstructuresin place
are adequate for Funcom'’s purposes.
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Therearenodefensemechanismsagainst take-over
bids in the Company's Articles of Association, nor
have other measures been implemented to limit the
opportunity toacquire shares in the Company.

DIVIDENDS

Funcom is investing its capital in the development
of existing as well as future games and also values
the flexibility to be able to pursue strategic oppor-
tunities if they should arise. The Company will
therefore retain its surplus cash in the Company.

APPLICATION OF PROFIT/LOSS

The Management Board does not propose payment
of adividend. Total Equityafter the results for 2008
is TUSD 58 353.

EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

After the balance sheet date there have been two
subsequent events that are detailed in Note 28 in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT STATEMENT

The Management Board of Funcom hereby confirms
that these financial statements give a true and fair
view. Theannualreport gives a true and fair view of
the situation as per balance sheet date and of the
course of the business during the year. The signifi-
cant risks that the Company faces are described in
note 27.

Thalwil, 13 March 2009
Trond Arne Aas

Pieter van Tol
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Report of the

Supervisory Board of Directors

IANNUAL REPORT

We hereby present you with the Annual Report for
2008, including the annual financial statements as
were drawn up by the Management Board. The an-
nual financial statements have been examined by
the externalauditors Mazars Paardekooper Hoffman
Accountants NV who have issued an unqualified
audit opinion which is shown in this Annual Report.
We have discussed the Annual Report with the
Management Board in the presence of the auditors.

We submit the financial statements to the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders, and propose that
the shareholders adopt them and discharge the
Management Board from all liability in respect of
its managerial activities and the Supervisory Board
from all liability in respect of its supervision of the
Managing Board. The profit appropriation as ap-
proved by the Supervisory Board is presented on
page 83 of this report.

RESULTS AND STRATEGIC POSITION

Funcom's revenue for 2008 was TUSD 39.925 com-
pared to TUSD 4.621 in 2007, when adjusted for the
revenues related to Plutolife, the mobile subsidiary
that was sold in 2008. The corresponding operating
result for 2008 was TUSD -26.707 compared to TUSD
- 6.728 in 2007. Fully diluted earnings per share
were USD -0,64 compared to USD 0.04 in 2007
Funcom's equity stood at TUSD 58.353 at year-end
2008, compared to TUSD 92.147 at year-end 2007.
The group had cash at the end of 2008 of TUSD
39.396 compared to TUSD 52.366 at the end of 2007,

In 2008, the Company launched its new title, Age of
ConaninEuropeandin the USwithout major technical
launch issues. The game received generally strong
review scores and the community build-up was
extraordinarily strong. The game sold-in (to retail
and digitally) over 1.2 million copies in the launch
period and quickly sold through over 800.000 copies
(ie.customers that since launch have boughta game
client and entered their game client key and pay-
ment details into Funcom'’s billing database). After
theverystronglaunch period, the average subscrip-
tion period for Age of Conan became shorter than
expected and this led to a reduction in subscriber
levels. The Company proactively addressed the
issues with subscription longevity in Age of Conan,
and anticipates that this key value driver will con-
tinue toimprove significantly in 2009.

Funcom's free-to-play game-initiatives progressed
well in 2008. Both of the two free-to-play MMO

@ ANNUAL REPORT | 2008

games under development are expected to be beta-
released during Q409. The games will be progres-
sively opened to more players over time. The timing
for this will depend on feedback during the beta-
phase. A third free-to-play MMO is in its early
concept phase.

The Secret World, Funcom'’s next full-fledged MMO
is progressing well. The game’s team size has in-
creased to around 80 people at year end 2008. The
Secret World will use the next version of the propri-
etary DreamWorld technology that was developed
for Age of Conan as the core game engine which will
reduce the technical risk of the project significantly.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for monitor-
ing and advising the Management Board, adopting
the Company’s strategy, and performing the requi-
site control functions. The Supervisory Board sets
the objectives for financial structureand adopts the
Company’s plans and budgets. The Supervisory
Board handles items of major strategic and/or fi-
nancial importance for the Company. The Supervi-
sory Board has discussed both its own functioning
and that of its individual members and finds that
the currentstructureand processesin placeare sat-
isfactory. It has also discussed the composition and
functioning of the Management Board and has full
confidence in its current composition. The Supervi-
sory Board has furthermore been presented with a
risk overview for the Companyandbelieves that the
risk levelin Funcomisacceptable. During the yearit
hasregularlyhad discussions with the Management
Board regarding corporate strategy.

REQUIRED EXPERTISE AND BACKGROUND

OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD:

= Knowledge and experiencein the financial, legal,
economic, organizational and marketing fields.

= Experience in managing or supervising the man
agement of alisted company.

= Knowledge of, experience in and affinity with the
gaming industry.

= Knowledge of and experience with working in a

international environment.

The ability, alsoin terms of available time, to monitor

and stimulate the general course of affairs within

the company in a prompt and effective manner

and to provide the CEO and the Management

Board with advicerelating to the formulation and

execution of the company policy.

= Noconflicts of interests at the time of appointment.
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The Remuneration Committee has presented its

annual remuneration report for 2008 to the rest of

the Supervisory Board. The established remunera-

tion policy has been followed during the year. There

are no planned changes to the remuneration policy.

The total remuneration of the Management Board

consists of the following elements:

= A fixed element: annual salary and vacation
allowance.

= Avariable element: options and bonus

= Pensionandotherbenefits

The Company's complete remuneration policy can

be found on www.funcom.com.

Thefollowing professionalsserved on the Supervisory
Board year-end, 2008:

Torleif Ahlsand, Chairman of the Supervisory Board
(born 1966, male, Norwegian, 2nd term, member
since 2005) Mr. Ahlsand is a General Partner in
Northzone Ventures that controls 5.449.175 shares
in the Company,and ishence not viewed asindepen-
dent. Torleif Ahlsandalso controls 100,000 sharesin
Funcom shares through his company Brownske
Bevegelser AS and holds 100.000 share options in
the company. Prior to Northzone, Mr. Ahlsand was
VP Corporate Finance in Handelsbanken Securities
and a corporate development executive in Orkla
ASA. Mr. Ahlsand also has a professional technical
background as a research scientist at CERN outside
Geneva and as a telecommunications engineer
in NERA Telecom. Mr. Ahlsand holdsa M.Sc. degreein
Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from
NTNU (1991) and an MBA with Honors from IMD in
Switzerland (1997). Mr. Ahlsand lives in Oslo, Norway
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Michel Cassius,

(born 1957, male, French, 1st term, member since
2006) Mr. Cassius is presently an independent con-
sultant in the games industry. Prior to this he was
the co-founder and Director of YoYo Games Ltd, a
start up company who launched wwwyoyogames.
comin 2007, the largest user generated casual game
site. Mr. Cassius has also served as the European
managing Director of Fun Technologies and as the
Senior Director of Platform and Marketing for
Microsoft’s Xbox business in EMEA. He spent seven
yearsatElectronic Arts,whereheled EA.com, Electronic
Art’s online gaming business in Europe where he
launched Ultima Online, one of the first MMO's in
Europe. Mr. Cassius holds 83.334 share options in
the Company.

Hans Peter Jebsen,

(born 1957, male, Norwegian, 2nd term, member
since 2005) Mr. Jebsen has several years experience
from the shipping industry in the US, South East
Asia and Europe. He holds a number of board posi-
tionsinshipping companies. Mr. Jebsenlivesin Oslo,
Norway and is not viewed as independent as he and
hisaffiliateshold 12.058.075 shares in the Company
through Stelt Holding NV.and Tom DahlAS. Mr. Jebsen
holds 50.000 share optionsin the company.

Frank Sagnier,

(born 1962, male, French, 1st term, member since
2008) Mr. Sagnier is presently an independent con-
sultant in the games industry. He recently worked
for Double Fusion as European Managing Director
until September 2008 and remains involved as a
Board Adviser. He spent the previous 8 years as
Vice-President for Electronic Arts Europe in differ-
entroles such as Marketing, Third Party Publishing
and Online Publishing. Mr. Sagnier holds 50.000
share optionsin the company.
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Claus Hejbjerg Andersen,

(born 1965, male, Danish, 2nd term, member since
2005) Mr. Hejbjerg Andersen is a General Partnerin
Nordic Venture Partners that holds 5.208.323
shares. Mr. Hgjbjerg Andersen holds 50.000 share
options in the Company. He has been with Nordic
Venture Partners since the start in early 2000 and
has over the years focused mostly on enterprise
software and internet related investments. Prior to
joining Nordic Ventures Partners he had an inter-
nationalcareerin the financialindustryintheareas
of asset management, research and sale through
working for Danske Capital (Copenhagen), Nordea
(Luxembourg) and Enskilda Securities (London). Mr.
Hojbjerg Andersen holds a B.Comm. degree in Credit
and Finance from Copenhagen Business School. Mr.
Hojbjerg Andersen lives in Copenhagen, Denmark.

Thalwil, 13 March 2009
The Supervisory Board of Directorsin Funcom N.V.

Torleif Ahlsand,
Chairman

Michel Cassius,
Vice-Chairman

Frank Sagnier
Claus Hejbjerg Andersen

Hans Peter Jebsen
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The Supervisory Board has appointed a Remunerations
Committee and an Audit Committee. The Remuner-
ation Committee consists of Mr. Jebsen (chairman)
and Mr. Ahlsand (member) and has conducted 2
meetings during 2008 with remuneration of the
Management Boardand theallocation of the Options
Programme as the main agenda points. The Audit
Committee consists at year end 2008 of Mr. Hajbjerg
Andersen (chairman)and Mr. Cassius (member). The
committee has conducted 5 meetings during 2008
with accounting policies, risk managementand con-
trol as well as approval of financials as the main
agenda points.
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Statement of compliance

to the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code and the
Norwegian Code of Practice
for Corporate Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN FUNCOM N.V.:

Funcom aspires to generate value for its owners
through profitableand sustainable business practices.
Good corporate governance and management will
ensure the greatest possible value creation at the
same time as Group resources will be used in an
efficient and sustainable manner. The added value
will benefit shareholders, employees and the gaming
community. Funcom is listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange and is subject to Norwegian securities
legislation and stock exchange regulations as well
as Dutch legislation.

Funcom's key principles of corporate governance
havebeenbased upon the Dutch Corporate Governance
Codeand the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance. The Oslo Stock Exchangerequireslisted
companies to publish an annual statement listing
all corporate governance recommendations and
presenting compliance with the recommendations
or explaining why the Companyhas chosen an alter-
native approach to the specific recommendation.

For the Dutch Corporate Governance Code Funcom

will present therecommendations whereit does not
complyand explain the rationale for this.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:
Funcom has been governed by a Management Board
and a Supervisory Board since 2005.

This form of corporate governance, which separates
the powers of management from those of supervision,
is considered to offer the most balanced framework
governing the exercise of power.

The Supervisory Board oversees the efficient operation
of the Companyand reports to the shareholders. The
Board appoints the Chairman and members of the
Management Board and supervises executive
management.

The Supervisory Board is supported by two special
committees, which were established to implement
its principles of corporate governance.

The general principles of Funcom'’s executive remu-

neration policy have been presented to the Remu-
neration Committee of the Supervisory Board.
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Statement of compliance
to the Norwegian Code
of Practice for Corporate

Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has drawn up a separate policy for
corporate governance, and the Board has decided to
follow both the Norwegian Code of Practice for

Corporate Governance dated 4. December 2007 and
the Dutch Corporate Governance Code.

The Company has drawn up its own Corporate Code
of Ethics and Value Platform. Compliance with and
the followup of the Code of Ethics havebeen subject
tointernal processes.

Departures from the recommendation: None

2. BUSINESS

Thebusiness of Funcom NV.is defined in the Company’s
Articles of Association which states that Funcom
shall develop, market and carry on business in
computer games, hereunder massively multiplayer
online games, online role playing games and related
games on electronic devices of different kinds.

The Company has clear objectives and strategies for
its business as described in the Management Board
Report in this report. This report also includes ref-
erence to the business activities clause from the
Articles of Association.

The Company's Articles of Association can be found
on the Company's website at www.funcom.com

Departures from the recommendation: None

3.EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS

Equity

At 31 December 2008, consolidated equity came to
TUSD 58,353, accounting for 79.07 per cent of total
assets. This is considered satisfactory. Funcom will
maintain an equity ratio appropriate to its long-
term growth targets.
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Dividend policy
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) stipulates the

annual dividend, based on the Board's recommenda-
tion. In view of the Company's planned expansion of
its business, the Company is not planning to pay
dividends in the medium term future. This policy
will beregularly evaluated as appropriate according
to the development of the Company. The dividend
policyisdisclosed in the Reportfrom the Management
Board in the 2008 Annual Report.

The extraordinary General Meeting of Funcom
grantedin December 2008 amandate for the Company
to buy back up to 10% of the outstanding shares in
the company.

Departures from the recommendation:

Mandates granted to the Supervisory Board to in-
crease the Company’s share capital have not been
limited in time to the next AGM. Funcom willimple-
ment this from the AGM of 2008.

4.EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND
TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSE ASSOCIATES OR
RELATED PARTIES

Class of shares

The Articles of Association do not impose any
restrictions on voting rights. All shares have equal
rights.

Transactions between related parties

Funcom's Supervisory Board is committed to treating
all the Company’s shareholders equally. In 2008,
there were no transactions between the Company
and its shareholders, Supervisory Board Members,
Management Board Members, executives, or those
close to them, which might be described as signifi-
cant transactions, exceptthe ones described in Note
25 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments. Pieter van Tol has an ownership stake in
WeidemavanTol, a Company used by Funcom for legal
counsel and tax advice. The Supervisory Board will
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pay particular attention to obtaining independent
valuations for any material transactions between
the Company and its close associates.

The Companyhasimplemented guidelines to ensure
that members of the Supervisory Board and the
Management Board notify the Supervisory Board if
theyhaveanymaterial direct orindirectinterestin
any transaction entered into by the company. These
guidelines can be found in the Supervisory Board
Regulations Article 4.1, and the Management Board
Regulations, Article 4.2 and 4.3. The Supervisory
Board Regulations can be found at www.funcom.com

Departures from the recommendation: None

5. FREELY NEGOTIABLE

Sharesin Funcomarefreelynegotiable. The Articles
of Association do not impose any restrictions on
transferof shares. Funcomislisted on the Oslo Stock
Exchange,and worksactively toattract theinterest
of potential new shareholders. Good liquidityin the
Company’s shares is important for the Company to
be seen as an attractive investment and thereby
achieve a low cost of capital. Executives in Funcom
meet regularly with currentand potentialinvestors
in Norway, Europe and the USA.

Departures from the recommendation: None

6. GENERAL MEETINGS

By virtue of the AGM, the shareholders are guaran-
teed participation in the Group's supreme governing
body. The AGM adopts the Articles of Association.
Shareholders representing at least 10 per cent of
the shares can call for an extraordinary general
meeting.

Notification

An AGM is held before 30 June each year. The 2009
AGM is scheduled for May 21. Notification will be
distributed three weeks in advance, and posted on
the Company website. The Financial Calendar is
published onthe Companywebsiteand in the Group's
Annual Report.
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Participation
It is possible to register by post, telefax or e-mail

The Supervisory Board tries to pave the way for as
manyshareholdersas possible to participate. Share-
holders who are unable to attend are encouraged to
assign their proxy, and it is possible to sign proxies
foreachindividualitem on the agenda. Representa-
tives of the Board and the auditor will attend the
AGM. Management is represented by minimum one
member of the Management Board. In 2008, the
AGM was held on May 21, and a total of 61,82 per
cent of theaggregate share capital was represented.
An EGM was also held on 19 December where a total
of 55,91 per cent of the aggregate share capital was
represented.

Agendaand execution

The agendais set by the Supervisory Board, and the
main items are specified in §23 of the Articles of
Association.

Departures from the recommendation:

Due to the size of the Company there are two depar-
tures. Thesewillbere-evaluated in the futureaccording
to the development of the Company.

= AGMs in Funcom are to be chaired by the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board or the vice-chair-
man of the Board. This is a departure from the
recommendation for independent chairing of
meetings. If it is requested in advance by at least
10% of the shareholdersattendinga general meet-
ing, arrangements will be made to ensure an inde-
pendent chairman for the meeting.

Shareholders representing at least 10%, and not
5% as outlined in the Norwegian Recommend-
ation, are required to call for an extraordinary
general Meeting.
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7. NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Departures from the recommendation:

The Companydoes not have a Nominating Committee,
as such a committee is not deemed to be relevant
given the Company's current size. The Companywill,
however, re-evaluate this policy according to its
development in the future. The Board shall carry
out the duties of proposing the candidates for elec-
tion to the Supervisory Board and to the corporate
assembly (to the extent thisexists)and the fees tobe
paid to members of these bodies. The Board shall
justify such recommendations.

8. CORPORATE ASSEMBLY AND THE BOARD

OF DIRECTORS - COMPOSITION AND

INDEPENDENCE

Due to the fact that Funcomis a Dutch company, the
Company has a two-tier board structure, comprised
of anon-executive Supervisory Board (also referred
toin this document as the “Board”) that advises and
supervises the Management Board, whichis respon-
sible for the daily management of the Company. (The
Management Board is referred to as “members of
the executive management” of the Company).

The members of the Supervisory Board are: Torleif
Ahlsand (Chairman), Michel Cassius (Vice-chair-
man), Hans Peter Jebsen, Claus Hoejbjerg Andersen
and Frank Sagnier. The CEO is not a member of the
Supervisory Board. In 2008 Pieter van Tol stepped
down from the Supervisory Board in the AGM held
May 21. In the EGM held in December Frank Sagnier
joined the Supervisory Board.

The General Meeting elects the five to seven mem-
bers of the Board. Decisions on the composition of
the Board require a simple majority. Supervisory
Board Members are elected for two-year terms and
can be re-elected. It is essential that the Board as a
wholeis capable of dealing with Board work and the
Company’s main business activities. According to
the Company’s Articles of Association, there shallbe
at least five members of the Supervisory Board. All
Supervisory Board members are independent of the
Management Board and close business relations of
the Company.

The members of the Management Board are: Trond
Arne Aas (President and CEQ) and Pieter van Tol
(Managing Director). In 2008 Jan Inge Torgersen
stepped down from the management Board in the
AGM held December 19. At the same time Pieter van
Tolwas elected to the Management Board.

Board members are recommended to own shares in
the Company.
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Departures from the recommendation:
Funcom doesnothavea Corporate Assemblyasitisa
Dutch company.

Inthecurrentcompositionof the SupervisoryBoard,
two of the members do not meet the requirements to
be defined as independent according to the article
astheyhaverelationships with Companies that own
more than 10% of the shares respectively. The com-
position of the Supervisory Board will be reviewed
againin 2009,

In Funcom’s Management Board, Pietervan Tolhasa
business relationship with the Company.

9. THE WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board responsibilities

The Board has issued instructions for its own work
aswell as for the Management Board through sepa-
rate regulations approved by the AGM. The Super-
visory Board's main tasks include participating in
developing and adopting the Company's strategy,
performing therelevant control functionsand serving
asan advisory body for the executive management.
The Board adopts the Company's plans and budgets.
Items of major strategic or financialimportance for
the Company are items processed by the Board. The
Board is responsible for hiring the CEOand defining
hisor her work instructions as well as setting his or
her wages. The Board hasa deputy chairman for the
purpose of chairing the board in the event that the
chairman cannot or should not lead the work of
the Board.

Financialreporting

The Supervisory Board receives regular financial
reports on the Company's economic and financial
status.

Notification of meetings and discussion of items
The Board schedules regular meetings each year at
the same time as they agree on the next year’s fi-
nancial calendar. Ordinarily, the Board meets 6-8
times a year, normally in Zurich. Additional meet-
ings may be convened on an ad hoc basis. 11 Board
meetings were held in 2008.

All Supervisory Board members receive regular
information about the Company's operational and
financial progress in advance of the scheduled
Board meetings. The Supervisory Board members
also regularly receive operations reports. The Com-
pany's business plan, strategy and risks are regu-
larly reviewed and evaluated by the Board. The
Supervisory Board Members are free to consult the
Company's senior executives as needed.
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The Board draws up and establishesanannual plan,
including themes for the Board meetings. Ordinarily,
the CEO proposes the agenda for each Board meet-
ing. The final agenda is decided in consultation be-
tween the CEO and the Chairman of the Board.
Besides the Supervisory Board Members, Super-
visory Board meetings are attended by: the CEQ, the
CFO, and the managing Director of Funcom GMBH.
Other participants are summoned as needed.

The Board takes decisions of particular importance
to the Company, including the approval of the an-
nualand quarterlyaccounts, strategiesand strategic
plans, the approval of significant investments, and
the approval of business acquisitions and disposals.

Legal competence

The Board is bound by the rules regarding disquali-
ficationas theyappearin §6-27 of the Public Limited
Companies Act.In 2008, there were no caseswherea
member of the Supervisory Board had to disqualify
him- or herself from discussions.

Use of Board Committees

Currently, the Company has an Audit Committee

and a Remuneration Committee. This is detailed in

the Annual Report in the Report of the Supervisory

Board of Directors.

= The Audit Committee has responsibilities related
to financial reporting, the independent auditor,
internal audits and risk management. The Com-
mittee consists of two shareholder-elected Super-
visory Board Members. The other Supervisory
Board Members are entitled to attend if they so
desire.
Members: Claus Hejbjerg Andersen (Chairman)
and Michel Cassius. Pieter van Tol was a member
until May 2008.

= The Remuneration Committee has responsibili-
ties related to developing proposals for the appli-
cable remuneration policy and execution of the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board.
Members: Hans Peter Jebsen (Chairman) and
Torleif Ahlsand (Member).

The Board's self-evaluation

In 2008 the Chairman of the Board presented an
evaluation of the Board's duties and working methods.
The Board's working methods and interaction are
discussed on an ongoing basis. In this connection,
the Board also evaluates its efforts in terms of
corporate governance.

Departures from the recommendation: None
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10. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Company's internal control and system for risk
management has improved over the course of 2008.
Funcomhascorporatevaluesand ethical guidelines.
The Supervisory Board has been presented with an
annual review of the Company’s most important ar-
eas of exposure to risk and its internal control
arrangements.

The Supervisory Board Reportin the Annual report
for 2008 providesanaccount of the main features of
the Company’s internal control and risk manage-
ment systems.

Departures from the recommendation:

The company management hassetupasystemof in-
ternal controls which it considers to be effectiveand
efficient for the size of the company. The system the
company has set up is less detailed than probably
imagined in the Dutch Corporate Governance Code
and consequentlymanagementis notina position to
declare that the internal risk and control systems
are adequate and effective as required by this Cor-
porate Governance Code

11. REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD

OF DIRECTORS

A General Meeting stipulates the Supervisory
Board's remuneration each year. The proposal for
remuneration will be made by the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. In 2008, total remunera-
tion to the Supervisory Board came to EUR 55,000
The Chairman of the Supervisory Board's remuner-
ation was EUR 25.000 and the other Supervisory
Board members’ remuneration was EUR 8.000
except Frank Sagnier’'s remuneration which was
EUR 2.000 for serving on the Supervisory Board in
the fourth quarter of 2008 and Pieter van Tol's
remuneration which was EUR 4.000 for serving on
the Supervisory Board in the first and second quar-
ter. The fees for 2008 are outstanding by the end of
the year.

Departures from the recommendation:

The Company will from time to time consider grant-
ing share options to members of its Supervisory
Board. This goes against the recommendations
of the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance. The Company views share options as
an important tool for remuneration of board mem-
bers, e.g., to be able to have a board composition that
reflects the global nature of its business.

Asdescribed above, one member of the Management
Board, Pietervan Tolhasanindirectbusinessrelation-
ship with Funcom. The nature of this business rela-
tionship concernslegal and tax advice and has been
fully disclosed to the full Supervisory Board.
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12. REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT

Guidelines

The Supervisory Board sets the terms of employment
of the members of the Management Board. Each
year, the Supervisory Board undertakes a thorough
review of salary and other remuneration to the CEO
as well as for other members of the Management
Board. The Remuneration Policy is reviewed on an
annualbasis by the Remuneration Committee of the
Supervisory Board.

The option program and the allocation of options to
the Management Board are decided upon by the
AGM. The structure of the incentive system for the
other members of corporate executive management
is determined by the Supervisory Board and pre-
sented to the AGM for information purposes. The
terms are proposed by the CEQ, and subject to the
approval of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board.
In total, the Company has 135 executives, managers
and board members who are covered by the options
program.

Departures from the recommendation: None

13.INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS

The annualreport and accounts - periodic

reporting

The Company normally presents provisionalannual
accountsin February. Complete accounts, the Report
from the Supervisory Board and the Annual Report
are sent to shareholders and other stakeholders in
May. Beyond this, the Companypresentsitsaccounts
on a quarterly basis. The Financial Calendar is pub-
lished on the Company's website and at the Oslo
Stock Exchange’s website. In addition financial and
Company information can be found at the Dutch
Chamber of Commercein the Netherlands. The web-
site of the chamber of commerceis: www.kvk.nl All
shareholders are treated equally as a matter of
course.

Other marketinformation

Open investor presentations are conducted in con-
nection with the Company's annual and quarterly
reports. The CEO reviews the results and comments
on products, markets and the prospects for the fu-
ture. The Company's CFO also participates in these
presentations.

The presentations made for investors in connection
with the annual and quarterly reports are available
onthe Company's website. Beyond that, the Company
conducts an ongoing dialogue with and makes pre-
sentations toanalystsandinvestors.

It is considered essential to keep owners and inves-
tors informed about the Company's progress and
economic and financial status. Importance is also
attached to ensuring that the same information is
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released to the entire equity market simultaneously.
Careis taken to maintain an impartial distribution
of information when dealing with shareholders and
analysts.

The Board has stipulated special guidelines for the
Company's contact with shareholders outside the
general meeting in its Investor Relations policy
which canbe found on the Company’s website.

Departures from the recommendation: None

14. TAKE-OVERS

Therearenodefensemechanismsagainst take-over
bids in the Company's Articles of Association, nor
have other measures been implemented to limit the
opportunity toacquire shares in the Company.

Departures from the recommendation: None.

15.AUDITOR

The auditor's relationship with the Board

An outline of the work planned by the auditor shall
be put before the Board once a year.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee conducts a
separate meeting with theauditorand management
prior to the Board's discussion of the financial state-
ments. The auditor is always present during the
Board's discussions of the annual accounts. In that
connection, the Board is briefed on the financial
statements and items of special concern to the audi-
tor, including any points of contention between the
auditor and management. The Board arranges an-
nual meetings with the auditor to review a report
from the auditor that addresses the Company's
accounting principles, riskareasandinternal control
routines. As from 2008, at least one meeting a year
willbe held between theauditorand therepresenta-
tives from the Supervisory Board without the pres-
ence of the CEO or other executive managers.

The auditor has submitted to the Supervisory Board
a written statement on fulfillment of the Statutory
Audit Independence and Objectivity requirement,
cf. Auditing and Auditors Act.

The auditor's relationship to management

The Supervisory Board has discussed guidelines for
the business relationship between the auditor and
the Company. At regular intervals, the Supervisory
Board evaluates whether the auditor exercises
asatisfactorylevel of control.

Departures from the recommendation: None.
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Statement of compliance
with the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code

Funcom's adopted code and practices are in compliance with the Dutch Corporate Governance code, with
the exceptions of:

= ArticlelIl.2.1and 2.2.

The Recommendations regarding the options. Options for the Management Board are conditional on con-
tinued employment in Funcom. The options become unconditional earlier than the three year time-limit
set out in the Dutch Corporate Governance Code. Funcom has a three year options program where one
third of the optionsarevested each yearin threeyearsafter grant date. The optionsare only vested if the
Management Board Member is still employed in the company at the vesting time. The options for the
Supervisory Board are conditional on the members serving on the Board and also become unconditional
earlier than the three year time-limit set outin the Dutch Corporate Governance Code

» ArticlelIl. 2.6. The

Recommendations regarding the Ownership of and Transactions in Securities by Executive Board mem-
bers and Supervisory Board members (‘the Regulations’) concern the ownership of and transactions in
securities in companies listed in the Netherlands, other than Funcom. Funcom does not apply the Code as
the Companybelieves thatapplying these provisions would createa cumbersome administrative burden.
Funcom Board members, in carrying out their tasks, do not generally receive price-sensitiveinformation
about other Dutch listed companies. Furthermore, as all Board members have the responsibility to be-
have ethicallyand to comply with applicable law and regulations, they will in any case be restricted from
trading in shares in companies about which they possess price-sensitive information.

= ArticleIIL.2:

In the current composition of the Supervisory Board, two of the members do not meet the requirements
to be defined as independent. They have relationships with Companies that own more than 10% of the
shares respectively. The composition of the Supervisory Board will be reviewed again in 2009.

= ArticleIIL3:

The Company has decided not to establish a Selection & Appointment Committee. The Supervisory Board
has taken these tasks upon itself. The Company has adopted to implement an Audit Committee and a
Remuneration Committee. The Companyhas furthermore not developedaretirement scheduleand made
it generallyavailable,as this could be viewed as signals of major shifts in ownership for keyshareholders
inthe Company.

= ArticleIIL7:

The Company has reserved the right to grant share options to members of the Supervisory Board. The
Company views share options as an important tool for remuneration of board members, e.g, to enable a
board composition which reflects the global nature of its business. In 2008, the EGM approved the alloca-
tion of options to all members of the Supervisory Board.

» ArticleIIL.8:

The Management Board currently has two members and both members have executive responsibilities
inthe Company.

* Article V.3:

The Company has not assigned a specific internal auditor. The Management Board will review whether
aninternalauditor will be engaged going forward.
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Funcom N.V.

Consolidated Income Statement

In thousands of US dollars

Revenue

Cost of sales

Personnel expenses

Generaland administrative expenses
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses
Other operating expenses

Operating expenses

Operating result

Financeincome
Finance expenses

Result beforeincome tax

Income tax (expense)/income

Profit from continuing operations

Profit (loss) from discontinued operation net of tax
Profit for the period

Attributable to:

Equity holders of Funcom N.V.

Minority interest
Result for the period

Basic earnings per share (US dollars)
Diluted earnings per share (US dollars)

Continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (US dollars)
Diluted earnings per share (US dollars)

34

5,16
6,21
10,11

22
22

22
22

*Certain comparatives were reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.

Theaccompanying notesareanintegral part of the consolidated financial statements
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39,925 4621 8,492
-42
-14,491 -5,045 -3,478
-13,676 -3,686 -2,927
-29,436 -1,233 -4,059
-9,030 -1,385 -796
-66,632 -11,349 -11,303
-26,707 -6,728 -2,811
2,373 8,196 4173
-5,633 -469 -351
-29,967 999 1,011
-4152 1,681 2,505
-34,119 2,680 3,516
264 -516 -280
-33,855 2,164 3,236
-33,798 2,318 3,347
-57 -154 -111
-33,855 2,164 3,236
-0.64 0.05 0.07
-0.64 0.04 0.07
-0.65 0.05 0.07
-0.65 0.05 0.07
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Funcom N.V.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Asat December 31,2008

In thousands of US dollars

IASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Deferred tax asset
Intangible assets
Equipment

Long term receivable
Totalnon-currentassets

CURRENT ASSETS
Tradereceivables
Prepaymentsand other receivables
Cashand cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets
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Note

9
10

24

12,24
13
14

2008 2007
300 4509
27123 35,697
2,222 4166
372 469
30,018 44841
3,028 977
1,404 2,067
39,396 52,366
43827 55,410
73,845 100,251
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Funcom N.V.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Asat December 31, 2008

In thousands of US dollars

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital

Share premium

Translation reserves

Retained earnings

Equity attributable to equity holders of Funcom

Minority interest

Total equity

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loansand borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liablities

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Deferred income

Income tax liability
Provisions

Other short term liabilities
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Note

15

24
18

17
19

Theaccompanying notesareanintegral part of the consolidated financial statements
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2008 2007
2,719 2,715
122,620 121,669
-235 682
-66,751 -32,981
58,353 92,085
62
58,353 92,147
1,037 1,618
50
1,087 1,618
338 1,048
1,854 506
272 68
5,480 715
6,460 4149
14,404 6,486
15,492 8,104
73,845 100,251
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Funcom N.V.

Consolidated Statement

of Cash Flows

for the year ended December 31, 2008

In thousands of US dollars

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses

Share-based payments
Financeincome/expense

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations
Result discontinued operations
Changeintrade and other receivables

Changein trade payables

Changeinother current assetsand liabilities
Cash generated from operations

Interest received
Interest paid
Income and net asset taxes

Net cash from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of equipment
Investment in intangible assets

Changeinlong term receivables
Purchase of shares in subsidiary
Disposal of discontinued operations
Net cashusedininvesting activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from issue of share capital

Proceeds from borrowings

Payment of finance lease liabilities
Net cash from financing activities

Netincreasein cashand cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations

Cashand cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Note

10.11
15,16

20

11
10

20

15

14,24
14,24

Theaccompanying notesareanintegral part of the consolidated financial statements
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2008 2007
-29,968 163
29,436 1,635
661 445
-1,601 -744
3717 -6,259

242
-1,341 -71
-469 591
7765 210
7957 -4,030
1,945 1,518
-344 -77
-5 2
9,553 -2,587
-1,116 -1,174
-14,569 -16,253
-442
-186

1,329
-14,356 -18,055
40 29,372
156
-3,680 -291
-3,640 29,237
-8,443 8,596
-4,527 6,347
52,366 37423
39,396 52,366

33|



Funcom N.V.
Consolidated Statement of
Recognized Income and Expense

for the year ended December 31, 2008

|
In thousands of US dollars Note 2008 2007
Foreign exchange translation difference -925 668
Net income recognized directly in equity -925 668
Result for the period -33,856 2,164
Totalrecognized income and expense for the period 15 -34,781 2,832
Attributable to:
Equity holders of Funcom NV. -34,724 2,947
Minorityinterest -57 -115
Totalrecognized income and expense for the period -34,781 2,832

The accompanying notesare anintegral part of the consolidated financial statements
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Funcom N.V.

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Funcom NV. (or the “Company”) is alimited company
registered in The Netherlands. The Company is in-
corporatedin Katwijk, The Netherlands. The Group's
head office is in Ziircherstrasse 59, 8800 Thalwil,
Switzerland. The Companyislisted onthe Oslo Stock
exchange under the ticker “FUNCOM”

The consolidated financial statements of the Com-
panyasatand for theyearended December 31,2008,
comprise the Companyandits subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”).

The objectives of the Group as stated in the Articles
of Association of the Company,are todevelop, market
and carry on business in computer games, here-
under massively multi player online games, online
role playing games and related games on electronic
devicesof differentkinds, totakeand grantlicenses
and other industrial property interests, assume
commitments in the name of any enterprises with
which it maybe associated within a group of compa-
nies, to take financial interests in such enterprises
and to take any other action, such as but not limited
to the granting of securities or the undertaking of
obligations on behalf of third parties, which in the
broadest sense of the term, may be related or contri-
bute to the aforesaid objects.

The consolidated financial statements were autho-
rized for issue by the Supervisory Board on March
13, 2009.

Allamountsarein USD'000 unlessstated otherwise.
There may be some minor rounding differences or
thetotal maydeviate from the totalof theindividual
amounts. This is due to the rounding to whole thou-
sands of individual amounts.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been
preparedinaccordance with International Financial
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Reporting Standards (IFRS) as approved by the
European Union and its interpretations adopted by
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Presentation and functional currency
Theconsolidated financial statementsare presented
in US dollars (USD), which is the Company’'s func-
tional currency, rounded to thousands. It is expect-
ed that US dollars willremain as the main currency
in the Group’s economic environment, due to a ma-
jority of US dollars revenues.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis unless other-
wise stated in these accounting policies.

Estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in confor-

mity with IFRS requires management to make judg-
ments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of as-
sets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are be-
lieved to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of the making
the judgments about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are re-
viewed on an ongoingbasis. Revisions toaccounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the
estimates are revised if the revision affects only
that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgments made by the management in the applica-
tion of IFRS that have significant effect on the
financialstatementsandestimates withasignificant
risk of material adjustment in the nextyearare dis-
cussed in note 27.
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Accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistentlytoall periods presentedin these
consolidated financial statements, and have been
applied consistently by Group entities. The Group
adopted IFRS 7 as of January 1, 2007.

Interpretation Title

Adoption of newandrevised standards

No new IFRSs issued are effective for the financial
year ended 31 December 2008. Certain interpreta-
tionsissued by theInternational Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee are effective for the
current year. The adoption of these interpretations
has not led to changesin the Group's accounting pol-
icies. The Group has not adopted any standards or
interpretationsinadvance of their effective dates.

Date of issue Applicable toaccounting

periods commencing on

[FRIC11

Group and Treasury
Share Transactions

IFRIC12* Service Concession
Arrangements

IFRIC 14 IAS19-The Limitona
Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum funding
Requirements and
their Interaction
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November 2006 1 March 2007
November 2006 1 January 2008
July 2007 1 January 2008
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At thedate of authorization of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations had
beenissued by the IASB but were not effective for the financial year ended 31 December 2008:

Date of issue

Applicable to accounting

IAS 23 amendment

IAS1amendment

IAS 1 amendment

IFRS 2 amendment

IAS32andIAS1
amendment

IFRS 1 and IAS 27
amendment

IFRS 1 revised*

IAS 39 amendment*

IAS39and IFRS 7
amendment

IAS 39 amendment*

IFRS 3revised*
IAS 27 amendment*

Various

[FRIC13

[FRIC15*

[FRIC16*

[FRIC17*

[FRIC18*

Operating Segments
Borrowing Costs

Presentation of Financial
Statements

Presentation of Financial

Statements

Share-based payment:
Vesting Conditions
and Cancellations

Puttable Financial
Instruments and
Obligations Arising
on Liquidation

Cost of an Investment
ina Subsidiary: Jointly-
controlled Entity

or Associate

First Time Adoption of
IFRSs

Financial Instruments:
Recognitionand
Measurement: Eligible
Hedged items

Reclassification of
Financial Assets

Reclassification of
Financial Assets:
Effective Dateand
Transition

Business Combination

Consolidated and
Separate Financial
Statements

Improvements to IFRSs

Customer Loyalty
Programmes

Agreements for the
Construction of
Real Estate

Hedges of a Net
Investment in a Foreign
Operation

Distributions of Non-
Cash Assets to Owners

Transfers of Assets
from Customers

November 2006
March 2007
September 2007

September 2007

January 2008

February 2008

May 2008

November 2008

July 2008

October 2008

November 2008

January 2008
January 2008

May 2008
June 2007

July 2008

July 2008

November 2008

January 2009

periods commencing on
1 January 2009

1 January 2009
1 January 2009

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

1 July 2009

1July 2008

1July 2008

1 July 2009
1 July 2009

1 January 2009
1July 2008

1 January 2009

1 October 2008

1 July 2009

1 July 2009

*As at the date of the issue of the financial statements, these standards and interpretations listed above
were not endorsed by the EU

The impact of all these standards and interpretations has not yet been systematically analyzed, but none
of these standards and interpretations are expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated

financial statements.
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2.2 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company.
Control exists when the Company has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain bene-
fits fromitsactivities. Controlnormallyexists when
the Group owns, either directly or indirectly, more
than 50% of the shares in another entity. Subsidiar-
ies are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from the date the control effectively com-
mences until the date control ceases.

The purchase method is applied when accounting
for business combinations.

Inter-company transactions
Inter-companybalancesand unrealized income and
expenses arising from intra-group transactionsare
eliminated in full. Unrealized gains arising from
transactions withassociates are eliminated against
the investment to the extent of the Group’s sharein
the investment. Unrealized losses are eliminated in
the same way, but only to the extent that thereis no
evidence of impairment.

2.3 Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactionsin foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Monetaryassets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rate at the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies that are stated at historical cost
aretranslatedat the exchangerateat the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated at the exchange rate at the date the val-
ues were determined. All foreign exchange gains
and losses arising on translation are recognized in
theincome statement.

Foreign operations

Year end financial statements of consolidated entities
are prepared in their respective functional curren-
cies and translated into USD (the Group's reporting
currency)as of year end. Assetsand liabilities of the
foreign operations, including goodwilland fair value
adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated
at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The
revenues and expenses of foreign operations are
translated at rates approximating the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign ex-
changedifferencesarising on translation of foreign
operations are recognized directly in equity in the
translation reserve.
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If aloan is made to a foreign operation and the loan
in substance formspartof the Group'sinvestmentin
the foreign operation, foreign exchange differences
arising on the loan are also recognized directly in
equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, exchange
differences recognized in equity are recognized in
the income statement as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

2.4 Income recognition

Revenue from operations

Online subscription income, royalty income, and
advertisingincomeare currently the Group’s signifi-
cant sources of revenue.

Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the
economic benefits of a transaction will flow to the
entity, therevenue canbe measuredreliablyand the
associated costs areidentified and can be measured
reliably. Revenue is measured at the fair value of
consideration received or receivable, net of value
added tax, discounts, and returns.

Subscription income is generated when customers
purchase upfront access time for the Group's prod-
ucts Age of Conan and Anarchy Online. Subscription
income is mainly collected from credit cards and is
recognized gross of credit card charges. Revenue
from subscriptions is recognized over the subscrip-
tion period which is from the date of subscription
purchase until subscription end, normally 1 - 12
months. At the balance sheet date, revenue not rec-
ognized in the income statement is recognized as
deferredrevenueandpresentedin thebalancesheet
as a liability.

Revenue from contracts involving work performed
by the Group with contingent deliverables is recog-
nized in the income statement when the outcome of
atransactioncanbeestimatedreliably. The outcome
of a transaction can normally not be estimated reli-
ably until the contracts are fulfilled. Until recogni-
tion in the income statement of such revenue can
take place, revenue is recognized as deferred reve-
nue and presentedin the balance sheet as aliability.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized in the
income statement when the significant risksand re-
wards of ownership have been transferred to the buy-
er,which is normally when delivery has taken place.
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Revenues fromlicenseandroyaltyagreements with
a minimum non-refundable guaranteed advance is
recognized at the delivery of the product. Per copy
royalties on sales that exceed the guaranteed mini-
mum amount are recognized as the licenseesreport
unit sales. If publishers cancel software license
agreementsduringthe product’sdevelopmentstage,
non-refundable advances or minimum guaranteed
royalty fees are recognized as revenue.

Revenue from Mobile phone services is recognized
uponusage of the service.

Government grants

Subsidies from the authorities are not recognized
until there is reasonable assurance that it will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to it. Subsidies that compen-
sate the Group for the costs of an asset are recog-
nized as a deduction from the asset that the subsidy
is meant to cover, and are recognized in the income
statement over the life of the amortizable asset by
way of a reduced amortization charge. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognized asrevenue in the income statementona
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expensesarerecognized.

Finance income

Finance income comprises interest receivable on
fundsinvested and foreign currency gains. Interest
incomeisrecognizedin the income statementasac-
crued, using the effective interest method.

2.5 Expenses

Expensesinclude both expensesandlosses. Expenses
are recognized in the income statement when they
arise, i.e. when a decrease in a future benefit gives
rise to a decrease in anasset, oranincrease in a lia-
bility that can be measured reliably. Expenses are
measured at the fair value of the amount paid or
payable.

Operating lease payments
Leaseswheresubstantiallyalltherisksandrewards
of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Lease payments
arerecognizedintheincomestatementonastraight
linebasis over the term of thelease. Leaseincentives
received are recognized in the income statement as
anintegral partof the totallease expense.

Finance expenses

Finance expenses comprise interest payable on bor-
rowings calculated using theeffectiveinterest method
and foreign currency losses.
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2.6 Income tax

The tax expense consists of current and deferred
tax. Income tax expenseisrecognizedintheincome
statement except to the extent that it relates to
items recognized directly in equity, in which case it
isrecognizedin equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the tax-
able income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet
liability method, providing for temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax/
tax assets are calculated on all taxable temporary
differences, with the exception of:

= theinitial recognition of goodwill,

= the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction thatisnotabusiness combinationand
thataffects neither accounting nor taxable profit,
and

= differencesrelating to investments in subsidiaries
totheextent that theywill probably notreversein
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are
expected tobeapplied to the temporary differences,
based on the laws that have been enacted or sub-
stantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only when it is
probable that an entity will have sufficient profits
for tax purposes toutilize the tax asset. At each bal-
ancesheetdate, the Group carries out a review of its
unrecognized deferred tax assets and the value of
thedeferred taxassetsithasrecognized. Unrecognized
deferred tax assets from previous periods are rec-
ognized to the extent that it has become probable
that an entity can utilize the deferred tax asset.
Similarly,an entity will reduceits deferred taxassets
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized at

their nominal value and classified as non-current
assetsandliabilities in the balance sheet.
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2.7 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognized in the balance
sheet if it is probable that the future economic ben-
efits thatare attributable to anintangible asset will
flow to the Group, and theasset’s cost canbereliably
estimated.

The Group does not have any intangible assets with
indefinite usefullives. Amortization methods, useful
lives and any residual values are reassessed at the
reporting date.

Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible
assets is capitalized only when it increases the fu-
ture economic benefits embodied in the specificasset
towhichitrelates. Allotherexpenditureisexpensed
asincurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates. Goodwill represents the excess of the
cost of the acquisition over the Group's interest in
thenetfairvalueof theidentifiableassets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When the
excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recog-
nized immediatelyin the income statement.

Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairmentlosses. Inrespectofassociates, goodwill
is included in the carrying amount of the invest-
mentinthe associate.

Research and development
Costsrelating toresearcharerecognizedin theincome
statement when incurred.

Expenses relating to development, such as labour

cost, material costs and other directly attributable

costs are recognized in the income statement

when theyareincurred unless the following criteria

are met:

= the product or process is clearly defined and the
cost elements can be identified and measured
reliably;

= the technical solution for the product has been
demonstrated;

= the product or process will be sold or used in the

Company’s operations;

the asset will generate future economic benefits; and

= sufficient technical, financialand other resources
for completing the project are present.

Whenalltheabove criteriaare met, the costsrelating
to development start to be capitalized. Capitalized
development expenditureisstatedat costless accu-
mulatedamortization and impairment losses.
Development costsareamortized from the date that
they are available for use and according to the ex-
pected economic benefits, normally 5 years.

Inefficiencies are tracked on a regular basis and

identified inefficiencies related to an internally
generated intangible asset will be expensed when

ANNUAL REPORT | 2008

identified. In addition an overall evaluation is per-
formed by the end of each financial year.

Technology
Technology is stated at cost less accumulated amor-

tization and impairment losses. Amortization is
recognizedintheincomestatementonastraight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives, normally
3 years.

Patents and licenses

Patents and licenses that are acquired by the Group
are measured at costless accumulated amortization
and impairment losses. Amortization is recognized
intheincomestatementonastraight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives, normally 5 years and
starts when theacquired assets are available for use.

Software

Costs to purchase new computer software programs
arerecognizedin thebalancesheetasanintangible
asset provided the software does not form an inte-
gralpartof therelated hardware. Softwareis stated
at cost less accumulated amortization and impair-
ment losses. Software is amortized using the
straight-line method over 3- 5 years.

2.8 Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depre-
ciationandimpairmentlosses. Whenassetsaresold,
the gross carrying amount and accumulated depre-
ciation and impairment losses are derecognized,
and any gain or loss on the sale is recognized in the
income statement.

The cost of equipment includes the purchase price,
any duties/taxes and directly attributable costs
required to get the asset ready for use.

Where parts of anitem of property, plant and equip-
ment have different usefullives, theyareaccounted
foras separate items of equipment.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of equipment
isrecognizedin the carryingamount of the item if it
is probable that the future economic benefits em-
bodied with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost can be measured reliably. All other costs are
recognizedin theincome statement asincurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement

using the straight-line method over estimated use-
fullives of the item of equipment. Estimated useful
lives are as follows:

Computers
Office equipment

3years
3 years
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The useful lives and depreciation method are as-
sessed at each reporting date. The same applies to
the residual value, if notinsignificant.

Financialleases

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes sub-
stantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recog-
nition the leased asset is measured at an amount
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Financial
lease payments are recognized in the balance sheet
as reduced liability and in the profit and loss as
interest expense on the related liability. Capitalized
tangible fixed assets relating to the lease are depre-
ciated over the profit and loss account.

2.9 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising
assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recov-
ered primarily through sale rather than through
continuing use are classified as held for sale. Imme-
diately before classification as held for sale, the
assets (or components of a disposal group) are re-
measuredinaccordance with the Group'saccounting
policies. Thereafter the assets or disposal group are
measured at the lower of their carryingamountand
fairvaluelesscosts tosell. Impairment lossesonini-
tial classification as held for sale and subsequent
gains or losses on re-measurement are included in
the income statement. Gains are not recognized in
excess of the cumulative impairment loss.

2.10 Financial instruments

The Group has chosen not to use any financial in-
struments tohedgeits exposuretoforeignexchange
and interest rate risks arising from operational,
financing and investment activities. Due to the in-
ternational structure of the Group, the Company
hassignificant positionin other currencies than the
USD as for example Norwegian kroner. The Group
evaluatesits currency risk on an ongoing basis. See
note 24.

The Group also does not invest in equity or debt
securities.

All financial assets in the balance sheet are classi-
fied as loans and receivables (at amortized cost). All
financial liabilities are classified as amortized cost
liabilities.

2.11 Trade receivables and other receivables

Trade and otherreceivables are initially recognized
at fair value and subsequently measured at amor-
tized cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment losses. The interest element is disre-
gardedif it isinsignificant.
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2.12 Cashand cash equivalents

Cashincludes cashinhand and at bank. Cash equiv-
alents comprise call deposits witha termof less than
90 days from the date of acquisition.

2.13Impairment

Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date
to determine whether there is any objective evi-
dence that the group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. A financial asset is considered to be
impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or
more events have had a negative effect on the esti-
mated future cash flows of that asset. Significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reor-
ganisation, and default or delinquency in payments
are considered indicators that the trade receivable
is impaired. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance account,
and the amount of the loss is recognized in the
income statement. When a trade receivable is uncol-
lectible, it is written off against the allowance
account fortradereceivables. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited the
income statement.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset
measured at amortized cost is calculated as the dif-
ference between its carrying amount, and the pres-
ent value of the estimated future cash flows dis-
counted at the original effective interest rate. An
impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale
financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair
value.

Animpairmentlossisreversed if thereversalcanbe
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairmentloss wasrecognized. For financialassets
measured at amortized cost and available-for-sale
financialassets thatare debtsecurities, thereversal
isrecognizedintheincomestatement. Foravailable-
for-sale financial assets that are equity securities,
thereversalisrecognized directly in equity.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed
at each reporting date to determine whether there
is anyindication of impairment. If any such indica-
tion exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that
haveindefinitelives or thatare not yetavailable for
use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year
at the same time.
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Therecoverableamountofanassetor cash-generat-
ingunitis the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that re-
flects current marketassessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the
purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets that gen-
erates cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other as-
sets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).
The goodwill acquired in a business combination,
for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated
to cash-generating units that are expected to bene-
fit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit ex-
ceedsitsestimatedrecoverableamount. Impairment
losses are recognized in the profit and loss state-
ment. Impairment losses recognized in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a
proratabasis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at
eachreporting date for any indications that the loss
has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment
lossis reversed if there hasbeena change in the es-
timates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been deter-
mined, net of depreciation oramortization, if noim-
pairment loss had been recognized.

2.14 Equity

Share capital
Ordinarysharesareclassified as equity. Transaction

costs relating to an equity transaction are recog-
nized directly in equity (share premium) after
deducting tax expenses. Only transaction costs direc-
tly linked to the equity transaction are recognized
directlyin equity.

Repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognized as equity is repur-
chased, theamount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax
effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity.
Repurchased shares are classified as treasury
shares and are presented as a deduction from total
equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued
subsequently, the amount received is recognized as
an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or
deficit on the transaction is transferred to / from
retained earnings.
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Dividends
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the period
in which theyare declared.

2.15 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group has defined contribution pension plans
according tothe mandatoryarrangementsapplicable
in the entities’ country of incorporation. Obligations
for contributions to defined contribution pension
plans are recognized as an expense in the income
statement when theyare due.

Defined benefit plans
The Group does not have any defined benefit plans.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

A provision is recognized for an undiscounted
amount expected to be paid under bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a re-
sult of past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions

The share option program allows management and
keypersonnel toacquiresharesin the Company. The
planisanequity-settled, share-based compensation
plan, under which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the
options is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market service and perfor-
mance vesting conditions. The grant date fair value
of options granted is recognized as an employee ex-
pense with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period that the employees become uncondition-
ally entitled to the options (vesting period). The fair
value of the options granted is measured using the
Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms
and conditions as set forth in the share option pro-
gram. Measurement inputs include share price on
measurementdate, exercise price of theinstrument,
expected volatility (based on weighted average his-
toricvolatility adjusted for changes expected due to
publicly available information), weighted average
expected life of theinstruments (based on historical
experience and general option holder behaviour),
expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate
(based on government bonds). Service and non-market
performance conditions attached to the transac-
tions are not taken into account in determining fair
value. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are ex-
pected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in the income state-
ment, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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2.16 Loans and borrowings

Loansandborrowingsarerecognized initiallyat fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subse-
quenttoinitialrecognition,loansand borrowingsare
stated atamortized cost using the effectiveinterest
method.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when, and only when, the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
asaresult of a past event that canbe estimated reli-
ably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are reviewed on each balance sheet date
and their level reflects the best estimate of the lia-
bility. If the effect is material, provisions are deter-
mined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables areinitially recognized at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less im-
pairmentlosses. Theinterestelementisdisregarded
ifitisinsignificant.

2.19 Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent liabilities are:

(i) possible obligations resulting from past events
whose existence depends on future events,

(ii) obligations thatare notrecognized because it is
not probable that they will lead to an outflow of
resources, or

(iii) obligations that cannot be measured with suffi-
cient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the con-
solidated financial statementsapart from contingent
liabilities whichareassumedinabusiness combina-
tion. Contingent liabilities are disclosed, with the
exception of contingent liabilities where an outflow
of benefits is only remote.

A contingent asset is not recognized in the consoli-
dated financial statements, butis disclosed whenan
inflow of benefits is considered more likely than
not.

2.20 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business that represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations
thathasbeen disposed of orisheld forsale, orisasub-
sidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upondisposal orwhen the operation meets the criteria
to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.
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When an operation is classified as a discontinued
operation, the comparative income statement is re-
presented as if the operation had been discontinued
from the start of the comparative period.

2.2]1 Segments

A segment is a distinguishable component of the
Group that is engaged either in providing products
or services (business segments), or in providing
products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject
to risks and rewards that are different from those
of other segments.

In the segment reporting, intra-group balances and
transactions between group entities withina single
segment are eliminated in determining reportable
amounts for each segment.

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is a consumer entertainment software
company that develops a wide variety of entertain-
ment software products for video game consoles,
personal computers and other internet-connected
hardware platforms. The Companyhas 3 new games
in development and is operating two live Massively
Multiplayer Online Game (MMOG), Age of Conan and
Anarchy Online.

Primary segment information is presented in re-
spectof the Group'sbusiness segments. Thebusiness
segments are determined with information from
the Group's managementand theinternal reporting
structure.

Inter-segment pricingis determined atarm’s length
basis.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those
thatcanbeallocated onareasonablebasis. Unallocated
items comprise mainly of investments (other than
investment directly related to games), loans and
borrowings and related expenses and income tax
assets and liabilities. Segment capital expenditure
isthetotal costincurred during the period toacquire
equipmentand intangible assets other than goodwill.
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Business segments
The Group comprised the following two business segments in 2008:

= PCand Console games: The Group develops, maintains and sells games for PCs and consoles.
= Mobile services: The Group developed and sold services for portable consumer electronic devices.
The Mobile segment was disposed of in July 2008. Refer to note 20.

In thousands of US dollars PCand Maobile Unallocated Total

Console services
games (discontinued)

Business segment 2008 i 2008 iy 2008 sy 2008 iy

Revenue from external
customers: 39,925 YAl 1,455 YL 41,380 RS
Total segment revenue 39,925 EERYA 1,455 pwvyE: - 41,380 peRsics

Operating result -26,708 AL 26,927 IYESE
Totalassets 73,543 300 ERESN 100,251
Total debt 15,442 50 - 15,492 EsHits)
Capital expenditure 21,908 - pARelolsy 20,966
Depreciation, amortization - - -

and impairment charges 29,436 ESE 217 182

There have been no significant inter-segment transactions.

29,653 JNSES

Geographical segments

In general the Group sells its products online to customers all over the world through centralized entities.
Presented below is a table that divides the Group’s revenue based on the Group’s main geographical areas.
Allocating segments assets and capital expenditures based on geographical segments would be arbitrary
and would not contribute toa better understanding of the Group’s operations.

Management has therefore chosen not to disclose segment assets and capital expenditures in accordance
with A5 14.15.

REVENUE

In thousands of US dollars % %

America IRSHSTION 45,05% 2,003 29,05% 4,024 3718%
Europa PAVRISHN 49,46% 4,675 67,80% 6,491 59,98%
Rest of the world Al S5.50% 217 314% 307  2,84%

Totalrevenue 6,895 10,822

4. REVENUE

95% 3478  50% 4157  38%
1% 1143 17% 4,333 40%
4% 2,274 33% 2,330 22%

Revenues online games
Revenues offline games
Mobile revenue (discontinued)
Other

Totalrevenue

6,895 10,822
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5. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

In thousands of USdollars 2008 2007 2006
Wages and salaries 4,219 3,202
Bonus/profit sharing 252 228
Social security 511 390
contributions

Contributions to defined 43 40
contribution plans

Expenses forshare 445 333
option program

Recruitment expenses 381 175
Other personnel expenses 433 245
Discontinued operations -1,239  -1135
Total personnel expenses 5,046 3,478
Average number

of employees: 2007 2006
Europe 191 164
North America 38 28
Asia 22 12
Total 251 204

6. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In thousands of USdollars 2008 2007 2006
Travel & marketing 1,986 1,600
Consultants 1061 1,184
Rentof premisesand 965 876
other office costs

Royalties

Investor relations 182 111
IT, hardware and software 175 128
Other

Discontinued operations -683 971
Total general and

administrative expenses 3,686 2,927

7.0THER OPERATING EXPENSES

In thousands of USdollars 2008 2007 2006
Commissions 653 510
Hosting and bandwidth 1,239 472
costs for online services

Salesand distribution costs 177 206
Externalsupportand

services 118
Discontinued operations -683 -510
Total other operating

expenses 1,385 796
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8. FINANCEINCOME AND EXPENSES

In thousands of USdollars 2008 2007 2006

Interestincome 1,919 798
Net foreign exchange gain 6,297 3,377
Other financial income

Discontinued operations -20 -2
Financeincome 8196 4,173

Interestexpense 77 -23
Net foreign exchange loss -453 -329
Other finance expenses -61 -3
Discontinued operations 123 4

Finance expenses -469 -351

The above financial items all relate to assets and li-
abilities carried at amortized cost.
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9.INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The following components are included in the Group’s tax expense:

2008 2007

Current period -13 -52
Adjustments for prior periods -13 -52
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporarydifferences 2,246 532
Changein tax rate -232
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses 2,156
Derecognition of recognized tax losses
2,013 2,688
Income tax expense excluding tax on sale of
discontinued operations 2,001 2,636
Income tax expense from continuing operations 2,001 2,636
Income tax from discontinued operation (exluding gain on sale) -320 -131
1,681 2,505
Income tax on gain on sale of discontinued operations
Totalincome tax expense 1,681 2,505
In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007 2006
Result before income tax 999 1,011
Tax according to the average tax rate in Switzerland,
Luxembourg, USAand Norway 1,908 2,464
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3 41
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses
Derecognition of deferred tax asset
Tax effect of changein taxrate 232
Changein unrecognized tax losses
Income tax (expense) /income 1,681 2,505

The Group has not recognized anyincome tax directlyin equity.
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY/TAX ASSET
2008 2007

Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax asset, net
Deferred tax asset, net

Deferred tax effect of tax increasing temporary differences:
Equipment andintangible assets

Provisions

Taxallocationreserve

Taxlosses carried forward

Total deferred tax effect of tax increasing temporary differences

Deferred tax effect of tax reducing temporary differences:
Taxlosses carried forward

Fixed assets

Provisions/receivables

Other temporary differences

Total deferred tax effect of tax reducing temporary differences

Deferred tax asset not recognizedin the balance sheet:
Recognized deferred tax asset, net

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset, net:
Opening balance

Net tax liability in sold company

Change according to statement of income
Exchange differences etc.

Deferred tax asset, net, at year-end

Carryforward taxlosses originating from Norway donotexpire under current tax legislation. The Group has
tax losses of TUSD 85 409 as at December 31, 2008. (2007: TUSD 7 079) which expires as follows:

In thousands of US dollars
Expire year 2008

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

Indefinite
Total tax losses 85,409 -

The Group's tax losses and negative differences between the book value and the value for tax purposes of
assets, which form the basis for the deferred tax assets, are primarily located in the Swiss and Norwegian
subsidiaries. The management has discussed towhich extent the Group will be able to utilize the deferred tax
asset, and has adjusted the amount in the balance sheet accordingly. In evaluating the Group's ability to
utilize the deferred tax assets,allavailable positive and negative evidence have been considered, including
past operating results, the existence of cumulative lossesin the most recent fiscal years and our forecast of
future taxable income on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis, as well as feasible and prudent tax planning
strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable income.
According toIAS 12when an entityhas a history of recent losses, the entity recognizes adeferred tax asset
arising from unused tax losses or tax credits only to the extent that the entity has sufficient taxable tem-
porary differences or there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available
against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits canbe utilized by the entity.
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10.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Develop- Technology Patentsand Software Total

ment cost licences
Cost
BalanceatJanuary1, 2007 622 22,428 1,492 75 441
Acquisitions, internally developed 16,430 295 300
Disposals -156 -109
Government grant -59
Other acqusitions 72
Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Translation difference 92 79
Balance at December 31, 2007 694 38,858 1,664 75 711
BalanceatJanuaryl, 2008 694 38,858 1,664 75 711
Acquisitions, internally developed 17,075
Disposals 75
Government grant
Other acqusitions 118
Discontinued operations -694 -1,664 -3
Translation difference -351 -189
Balance at December 31, 2008 55,582 637

Accumulated amortization
andimpairment losses

BalanceatJanuaryl, 2007 4,753 421 186
Amortization of the year 653 374 124
Impairmentlosses

Disposals -156 -109
Translation difference 30 29
Balance at December 31, 2007 5,406 669 230
BalanceatJanuary1l, 2008 5,406 669 230
Amortization of the year 4,275 146
Impairment losses 19,000

Disposals

Discontinued operations -669 -1
Translation difference 123 -83
Balance at December 31, 2008 28,804 292
CarryingamountatJan. 1, 2007 622 17,675 1071 75 255
Carrying amount at Dec. 31,2007 694 33,452 995 75 481
CarryingamountatJan. 1, 2008 694 33,452 995 75 481
Carrying amount at Dec. 31, 2008 26,778 345

The following values of intangible assets are under development and in use.
In thousands of US dollars

Under Inuse Total Under Inuse
development development
Goodwill
Development costs 11,120 15,658
Technology
Software 345
Patents and licenses
TOTAL 11,465 15,658
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Capitalization of amortization and depreciation

Impairment test for cash-generating units con-

The Group capitalized amortization and depreciation
on software and computers used in development of
games. [f these games are capitalized, theamortiza-
tion and depreciation is capitalized as an integral
part of the value of the game. The amounts thatare
includedincapitalized development costs wereas at
December 31, 2008 TUSD 501 (2007: TUSD 476)

Changesin estimate of usefullife
In 2007 the Group capitalized an upgrade to one of

the games alreadyin operation. Upgrades are amor-
tized over the remaining estimated useful life of
the asset as a whole. New estimates performed by
the managementin 2007 show that usefullife of the
asset willbe longer than previously estimated.

The effect on the income statement and period of
the change, are as follows: In thousands of US
dollars

Q4,2007 Ql,2008 Q22,2008 Q3,2008 Q4 2008

150 37,5 37,5 37,5 37,5
Calculation of recoverable amounts
The management estimates the recoverable

amounts of each cash generating unit on every bal-
ance sheet date. When calculating the recoverable
amount from cash generating units the Group uses a
discounted 5 years cash flow projection, based on
the latest information that influences the expected
performance of the asset. The cash flows are dis-
counted with 14 % for Age of Conanand 18 % for The
Secret World. The DreamWorld Technology was al-
located to each of the mentioned games on a 50/50
basis when performing theimpairment test, reflect-
ing the use of the technology in generating cash
flows from the games. These calculations use pre-tax
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a 3-year period.
Cash flows from the 4th year to the Sthyearare cal-
culated using management assumptions for the
number of customers for the asset. The cash flows
are highlydriven by the number of paying customers
and it is therefore the management’s expected de-
velopment of customers that is the most important
factor when estimating the future cash flows and
recoverable amounts. E.g. if the subscriber base was
30,000 higherin all periods for Age of Conan, the re-
coverableamount would equal the carryingamount
of theasset.

Management determined budgeted customer num-
bersbased onactual customer base, received market
information as well as 3rd party sales budgets, and
its own expectations of customer development. The
number of customers is in line with expectations,
and the development of the market as predicted in
industryreports.
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taining goodwill
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is

allocated to the Group's operating divisions which
represent the lowestlevel within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

Theimpairment testis based oncalculations of value
inuse. Cash flow projections based on actual operat-
ing results and the 5-year business plan has been
used asinputin the calculations. A pre-tax discount
rate of 14-18 per centis used in discounting the pro-
jected cash flows.

Research and development
In 2008 the Group expensed TUSD 830 in research
and development. (2007: TUSD 135)

Inefficiency
The Group did not expense any costs related to in-

efficiencies in 2008 or 2007.

Furtherinformation onintangible assets thatare
material to the financial statements

Age of Conan
The MMO game Age of Conan takes placein a world

based on author Robert E. Howard's classic fantasy
hero Conan — a strong brand name on the basis of
being one of the most read comic books in the West-
ern World as well as the subject of several books and
movies. Funcom acquired as from June 6, 2003 a 10
year exclusive right for the use of the Conan brand
for MMO gamesonallcurrentand future platforms.
Later Funcom extended this right until 2023.

The game features single-player and limited multi-
player game play in early levels and develops into a
full blown MMO as the player progresses to higher
levels. It represents the next generation of MMO
gamesandwillincludea high level of graphicdetail,
realistic artificial intelligence in non playing char-
acters (NPCs), new combat controls, and field battles
including both real players and commanded troops
of NPCs.

The carrying amount of Age of Conan is TUSD 15
429 on December 31, 2008. (2007: TUSD 21 734)

Age of Conan has beenamortized since its launch on
May 20, 2008.
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DreamWorld Technology
The DreamWorld Technology is Funcom's proprie-
tary MMO development technology.

The DreamWorld Technology is tailored and opti-
mized for creating world class MMOs. The technol-
ogy has a highly modular structure in which new
and upgraded technology modules and components
canbeintegrated into the technologybase.
Theflexibleand modulararchitecture of the Dream-
World Technology uncouples technology from the
game production process and shortens thelead time
to prototype. Furthermore, the technology is opti-
mized for online distribution through its miniclient,
peer-to-peer distribution and multiversion features.
The use of The DreamWorld Technology will ensure
synergies between the development projects of
Funcom, as well as significantly reduce the technol-
ogyrisksand development costs of the newprojects.
Keytechnical featuresinclude:
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= Content on demand. Enables Funcom to tailor the
gaming experience toindividual players. The load
driven game experience based on Automatic
Content Generation (ACG) and instantiations add
to the scalability of the technology. Funcom is
world leading in this field, and the dynamic con-
tent systems will be further developed in Age of
Conan. Content on demand enables unique game
play features.

= Flexible network code. Enables dynamic amount
of contentin the game world, depending on number
of players, as well as reduces total server load
throughinter- and intra server load balancing.

Flexible game code. Enables reuse of large part of
game code for new games, while at the same time
providing new features fast and cost-effective.

= Dynamic sound system. World leading system for
dynamically adapting audio to player actions and
positions, including real-time occlusion, Doppler
effects, sound rendering based on rendering, and
more.

Powerful game development software (tools).
Asuiteof verypowerful game tools enables design-
ers to make tailored game content quickly and
ensures quick iterations of game play development.

State-of-the-art graphics engine. The MMO opti-
mized graphics rendering and effects offer spec-
tacularand unparalleledrealistic world represen-
tation. One standout feature of the engine is the
sophisticated infinite layer animation system,
blending many levels of animation on top of each
other.

Artificial Intelligence. Funcom’s artificial intelli-
gence system is industry leading, and enables a
newlevel of realism in the behavior of non playing
game characters.

Thecarryingamount of the DreamWorld Technology
is TUSD 3 924 on December 31, 2008. (2007: TUSD
6591)

The DreamWorld Technology has been amortized
since the launch of Age of Conanin May 2008
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The Secret World

Currently in production stage, The Secret World is a
massively multiplayer online game for the PC and
Xbox 360, based on a Funcom developed and owned
brand, and setin the contemporary real world.

Borrowing elements from popular legend, factual
history, modern conspiraciesand ancient mythology,
the core development team has created a rich and
excitinggameworld, andadeepandintriguing story-
line encompassing thousands of years of human
history. Combined with action-packed gameplay
and outstanding visualsandaudio, The Secret World
is well positioned to be a major MMO brand in the
future.

By bringing the massively multiplayer online genre
intoa modern day setting, the game will potentially
appeal to a huge audience of gamers. Utilizing Fun-
com's proprietary MMO technology, the DreamWorld
engine, The Secret World is already in a playable
state. The production ramped up after the release
and initial live phase of the Age of Conan game, and
Funcom has moved experienced developers from
one project toanother since then.

The carrying amount of The Secret World is TUSD
6 509 on December 31, 2008. (2007: TUSD 4 414)

The Secret World is not yet amortized.
Other Games
The carrying amount of other gamesin the category

development costs amounts to TUSD 914 on December
31,2008.(2007 TUSD 713)
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11. EQUIPMENT

Computers  Furniture Computers Total
leased

Cost
BalanceatJanuaryl, 2007 3113 170
Acquisitions 1,022 130 2,789
Disposals 2,174
Translation difference 230 34
Balance at December 31, 2007 2,191 334 2,789
BalanceatJanuary 1, 2008 2,191 334 2,789
Acquisitions 1,005 111 3717
Disposals
Discontinued operation 74
Translation difference -592 -94
Balance at December 31, 2008 2,530 351 6,506
Accumulated depreciation and Straight Straight Straight
impairment losses line line line

3years Syears 3years
BalanceatJanuaryl, 2007 2,183 72
Disposals 2,174
Depreciation for the year 624 39 284
Translation difference 107 14
Balance at December 31, 2007 740 123 284
BalanceatJanuary1, 2008 740 125 284
Disposals
Discontinued operation -64
Impairment charges 1,900
Depreciation for the year 927 69 3,572
Translation difference -345 -43
Balance at December 31, 2008 1,259 150 5,756
CarryingamountatJan. 1, 2007 930 98
Carrying amount at Dec. 31, 2007 1451 210 2,505
Carrying amountatJan. 1, 2008 1451 210 2,505
Carrying amount at Dec. 31, 2008 1,271 201 750

Inactive leased servers have been tested for impairment and written down to what is considered their
recoverable amount. This is based on the fair value less costs to sell as at the balance sheet date.
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12. TRADE RECEIVABLES

In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007
Trade receivables 3066 977
Allowances for bad debts 38

Trade receivables, net 3028 977

Asof December 31, 2008 trade receivables consisted
of, TUSD 1 392in USD, TUSD 1 582 in EURQ, TUSD 0
in NOK, while a balance of TUSD 54 relates to other
currencies. The respective numbers for 2007 were
TUSD 512 in USD, TUSD 113 in EURO, TUSD 268 in
NOK and TUSD 84 in other currencies.

13.PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Prepayments and other receivables consist mainly

of receivable related to the sale of the shares in
Plutolife AS and ordinary operational prepayments.

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007
Cash atthebankandin hand 3336
Short-term bank deposits 49030
Cash and cash equivalents 52366
in the balance sheet

Restricted cash 636

Restricted cashrelates to cashataseparateaccount
for tax deducted from salaries. Short term bank de-
posits had an average term to maturity of 45 days,
and expired on February 15, 2008.
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15.EQUITY

Share Share Trans- Retained Total Minority

capital premium lation earnings Interest
In thousands of US dollars reserve reserve

EquityasatJanuary 1, 2007 2,443 91,920 185 -35431 59117 196
Exchange rate effects 629 629 39
Net income recognized directly in equity 629 629 39
Result for the period 2,318 2,318 -154
Totalrecognizedincome and expense 629 2,318 2,947 115
Issued share capital 273 29,099 29,372

Share-based payments 593 593 2
Share of acquired minority equity -41
Equity part convertible loan from minority 56 56 20

Change in minority interest

Equity asat December 31, 2007 2,716 121,668 814 -33,113 92,085 62
EquityasatJanuary 1, 2008: 2,716 121,668 814 -33,113 92,085 62
Exchange rate effects -916 -916 -9
Net income recognized directly in equity -916 -916 -9
Result for the period -33,798 -33,798 -57
Totalrecognized income and expense -916  -33,798 -34,714 -66
Issued share capital 3 36 39

Share-based payments 855 855 15
Other -33 29 150 88 -12
Equityasat December 31, 2008 2,719 122,527 -131  -66,761 58,353

SHARE-CAPITALAND SHARE PREMIUM

Number of ordinary shares

Outstandingat January 1
Issued against payment in cash
Outstandingat December 31 - fully paid

Nominal value of the share-capital at December 31 (EUR)

At December 31, 2008, the authorized share-capital comprised of 56,25 million ordinary shares (2007:56,25
million). The nominal value of the shares is Euro 0.04.The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividendsasdeclared fromtime totimeandare entitled to one vote per shareat the Companyshareholders’
meetings.

The share-capitalis translated into US dollars using historic rates.
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OnMay 21,2007 the Companyissued 275,000 shares
from options (see note 16 for further information),
Theissued shares were paid in cash at EUR 0.43 per
share (USD 0.63). Gross proceeds amounted to EUR
118 250 (USD 160 299) Total number of issued shares
after this transaction was 48 019 625.

On July 16, 2007 the Company issued 4,700,000
shares in a private placement .The issued shares
were paid in cash at NOK 38.50 per share (USD 6.48).
Gross proceeds amounted to NOK 180 950 000 (USD
30490 075) Total number of issued shares after this
transaction was 52719 625.

On November 12, 2007 the Company issued 50,000
shares from options ((see note 16 for further infor-
mation). The issued shares were paid in cash at EUR
0.43 per share (USD 0.63). Gross proceeds amounted
to EUR 21 500 (USD 31,568) Total number of issued
shares after this transaction was 52 769 625.

In 2007, transaction costs of USD 1 322 371 in con-
nections with capital increases were charged
directly against share premium (2006: USD 831 119)

In September 2008 the Company issued 62 500
shares from options (see note 16 for further infor-
mation), The issued shares were paid in cash at EUR
0.49 per share (USD 0.69). Gross proceeds amounted
to EUR 30 625 (USD 40 114) Total number of issued
shares after this transaction was 52832 125.

On December 19, 2008 Funcom held an Extraordi-
nary General Meeting where, pursuant to Section
41 of Funcom N.V/sarticles of association, the Board
of Supervisory Directors were authorized to issue
new sharesin Funcom NV. up toa maximum of 10 %
of theissued capital of Funcom N.V.as per the date of
the Meetingand todetermine the termsand conditions
of eachand anysuchissuance(s). This designation of
the Board of Supervisory Directors is valid for 2
years from the date of the Meeting.

The Board of Supervisory Directors were also, pur-
suant to Section 4.9and 4.1 of Funcom N.V's articles
of association, authorized toissue up toa maximum
3000 000 (three million) rights to acquire sharesin
the capital of Funcom NV. and to determine the
terms and conditions of each and any such
issuance(s). This designation of the Board of Super-
visory Directors is valid for 2 years from the date of
the Meeting.

The Board of Supervisory Directors were also, pur-
suant to Section 4.3 of the Funcom N.V's articles of
association authorized to limit or exclude the pre-
emptive rights of the shareholders of Funcom NV.
in relation to each or any issuance of shares, or
granting of rights toacquire shares, in the capital of
Funcom NV. This designation of the Board of Super-
visory Directors is also valid for 2 years from the
date of the Meeting.
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Lastly, in this extraordinary general meeting, pur-
suant to Section 5.1 under c. of the Funcom NV's
articlesof association, the Management Board were
authorized for a period of 18 months from the date
of the Meeting toacquireamaximum 10 % of theis-
suedand outstanding sharesin the capital of Funcom
NV.under the condition that such shares are traded
on the Oslo Stock Exchange and their price is below
NOK 15.

Under the Dutch Major Holdings Disclosure Act,
shareholdings of 3 % or more inany Dutch company
must be disclosed to the Netherlands Authority for
the Financial Markets (AFM). According to the reg-
ister kept by the AFM the following shareholders
had disclosed that they owned more than 5 % of the
Company's total share capital on January 1, 2009:

= Stelt Holding NV. (22,62 %) (Mr: Jebsen who con-
trols 49% of Stelt Holding also owns Tom Dahl AS
(0,2 %) of the shares of the Company)

= Northzone IV K/S (10,32 %)

= Nordic Venture Partners (9,86 %)

Allissued shares are fully paid.

The Group does not hold any of the Company’s own
shares.

On February 26, 2008 the Company issued additional
443 500 options asapart of the Group's options pro-
gram. The options vest with 33.33% each 1 year, 2
years and 3 years from grant. The average exercise
price is the volume weighted average trade price on
Oslo stock exchange 5 days prior and 5 days after
the grant.

On December 19, 2008 the Company issued addi-
tional 850 000 options as a part of the Group’s
options program. 25% of the options vest on May 21,
2009, and the remaining options vest on May 21,
2010. The average exercise price is the volume
weightedaveragetradepriceonOslostockexchange
Sdays priorand 5 days after the grant.

Translationreserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign ex-
change differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations.

Dividends

The Group did not pay any dividends in 2008
and 2007. No dividends relating to year 2008 have
been proposed.
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16.EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined contribution plans
The Group has mandatory occupational plans in some of its subsidiaries. The premium paid relating to
these schemes in 2008 was USD 319 518. (2007 - 2006: USD 248 821 - USD 99 566)

Share based payments

The Group has two option programs that entitle 1) management and key personnel and 2) members of the
Supervisory Board to purchase shares in Funcom N.V, the parent company of the Group. The option pro-
grams are presented separately below.

Option program in Funcom N.V.

The following options have been authorized by the shareholders meeting

Time of authorization Number of options authorized Expiry of authorization
May 10, 2003 1250000 May10,2008
November 30, 2006 1000000 November 30,2008
December 19, 2008 3000000 December19, 2010
Total number of options authorized 5250000

Shareoptionsaregranted to managementand to selected employees. For options programs granted in 2007
and 2008, the exercise price of the granted options is equal to the weighted market price of the shares 5
trade days' prior and 5 trade days after the date of grant. Options are conditional on that the employee re-
mains an employee or director of the Company on the date of exercise. The Company has no legal or con-
structive obligation torepurchase or settle the optionsin cash.

The below table shows the vesting period for each grant: (for outstanding options see separate table below)

Vested in Vestedin Vested in Vested inl

Granted Numbers granted 2008 2009 2010 2011
01, March 2007 845,200 281,734 281,733 281,733
14, June 2007 260,000 86,668 86,666 86,666
27,February 2008 433,500 144,500 144,500 144,500
19, December 2008 850,000 258,332 408,333 183,335

Movementsin the number of share options outstandingand their related weighted average exercise prices
are as follows:

List of outstanding options: Funcom N.V. Number of options ~ Weighted Numberof  Weighted
average options average
exercise exercise

price (USD) price (USD)

2008 2008 2007

Outstanding options on January 1 1,358,200 2.76 850,000 0.61
Options granted 1,283,500 148 845,200 411
Options exercised 62,500 0.49 325,000 0.61
Options terminated 122,400 3.69 12,000 3.28
Options expired 740,232 1.49

Outstanding options on December 31 1,716,568 IRy 1,358,200 2.76
Vested options 523,000 0.61
Weighted Average Fair Value of

Options Granted during the period 1,283,500 0.55 845,200

Number of exercised options 62,500 0.49 325,000

Number of expired or terminated options 122,400 3.69 12,000

Number of options allocated
Number of unallocated options

1,716,568 R 1358200
1263432 [ 554800

Out of the 1 716 568 outstanding options at December 31, 2008 (2007: 1 358 200) 0 were exercisable (2007
525 000). Options exercised in 2008 resulted in 62 500 new shares (2007: 325 000) being issued at USD 0.49
(2007:USD 0.43) each. The related average share price at the time of exercise was USD 1.92.
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Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and exercise prices

Shares

Expiry date Exercise price 2008 2007
15, June 2008 NOK 3.31 525,000
01, September 2009 NOK 17.78-35.77 367,429 277733
01, September 2010 NOK 17.78 -35.77 367431 277733
21, November 2010 NOK 2.85 300,000

01, September 2011 NOK 25.34 131,708 277733
19, June 2012 NOK 2.85 550,000

1,716,568 1,358,200

Out of the outstanding options with an exercise price in the range between NOK 17.78 and 35.77, 371 468
options have an exercise price of NOK 17.78, 263 392 NOK 25.34and 100 000 NOK 35.77

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the period determined using the Black-Scholes
valuation model was NOK 10,45 per options (2007: NOK 8,0125). The significant inputs into the model were
aweighted average share price of NOK 13.18(2007: 22.49), at the grant date, the exercise price shown above,
volatility of 71,91 % (2007: 58,40 %), dividend yield 0 % (2007: 0 %), an expected option life of 1- 3,5 years,
and an annual risk free rate of 3,7 % (2007: 4,52 %). The volatility measured is based on statistical analysis
of daily share prices for similar companies over the last 3 years.

The following managers/directors possess options or own shares

Name Number Number Comments
of shares of options
Supervisoryboard
Torleif Ahlsand 100,000 100,000 Mr. Ahlsand isapartner of Northzone

Ventures,which owns 5.449.175 shares
in the Company. Mr. Ahlsand owns
100,000 shares through his company
Brownske Bevegelser AS

Michel Cassius 83,334 Mr. Cassius is a member of the
supervisoryboard.

Hans Peter Jebsen 12,058,075 50,000 Mr.Jebsenandaffiliatescontrol 12.058.075
sharesin the Company through Stelt N.V.
and Tom DahlAS

Claus Hejbjerg Andersen 50,000 Mr. Hejbjerg Andersenis a partner of

Nordic Venture Partners, which owns
5.208.325 shares in the Company

Frank Sagnier 50,000 Mr. Sagnierisa member of the
supervisory board.
Trond Arne Aas 1437825 618,334 Mr. Aas is the CEO of Funcom NV.and

member of the managing board of
Funcom NV.900,000 of the shares are
ownedbyArminius AS, a company
controlled by Mr. Aas

Olav Sandnes 96,800 Mr. Sandnes is the CFO of the Funcom
Group
Pieter van Tol 500 50,000 Mr. van Tolis a member of the managing

board of Funcom N.V. The sharesare
ownedby Temmes Financial Services
Ltd. a Company controlled by Mr. Van Tol

Mr. Jan Inge Torgersen the former Group Controller and member of the Management Board of Funcom N.V.
left his positionin 2008. On February 11, 2008 Jan Inge Torgersen sold 6000 shares, and on August 20, 2008
hesold 14.000 shares. After these transactions Mr. Torgersen owns 0 shares and holds no options.
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17. PROVISIONS

In thousands of US dollars Sale Tax on Onerous Total]
returns capital contracts
increases

BalanceatJanuaryl, 2008 715

Provisions made during the year 2,508 2,344
Provisions used during the year

Provisions reversed during the year -38

Exchange rate differences -49

Balance at December 31, 2008 2,508 628 2,344

The Company isin dispute with the Dutch tax authorities in respect of outstanding capital duty liabilities
as of 31 December 2008. The potential cost of this disallowance to the Company is around TUSD 628 (in-
cludinginterest) (2007.TUSD 715). The Company believes it hasarguments to dispute the capital duty liabil-
ities and has filed formal appeals with the Dutch tax court in respect of some of the disputed capital duty
liabilities. The Dutch lower tax court ruled in favor of the Dutch tax authorities in respect of 1 outstanding
capital dutyliability (TUSD 283). However, the Company filed an appealagainst this decision with the Dutch
tax court. The Companyis awaiting response from the Dutch tax courtand cannot estimate the outcome of
the proceedings at this time.

In 2008 the Group has made provisions related to the service elements of non-cancellable lease contracts
for servers thatare notin useas at December 31, 2008.
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18.DEFERRED INCOME
The amount consists of subscription prepayments from customers.

19.0OTHER SHORT TERM LIABILITIES

The amount mainly consists of:

= vacation payaccruedin Funcom Oslo AS payablein June 2009
= finance lease liability payable in 2009

= taxesrelating tosalarypayments

= accrual of other regular operating expenses.

20. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

In July 2008, the Group sold its entire Mobile segment; the segment was not a discontinued operation or
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2007 and the comparative income statement has been re-pre-
sented to show the discontinued operations separately from continuing operations.

Results of discontinued operation
In thousands of US dollars

Revenue

Expenses

Results from operating activities

Financial items

Income tax

Results from operating activities, net of income tax
Gain on sale of discontinued operation

Income tax on gain on sale of discontinued operation
Profit (loss) for the period 264 - -516 -

Basic earnings (loss) per share (USD)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (USD)

Cash flows from (used in) discontinued operations

Net cash usedin operatingactivities

Net cash from investing activities

Net cash from financing activities

Net cash from (used in) discontinued operation

Deferred tax assets

Goodwilland other intangible assets
Equipment

Trade and otherreceivables
Cashand cash equivalents

Long term liabilities

Trade and other payables

Net assetsand liabilities

Consideration received, satisfied in cash
Cash disposed of
Net cashinflow
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21. LEASES
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007 2006
Less than oneyear 1599 1394
Between one and five years 5570 4812
More than five years

Total 7169 6206

The Group leases office premises in Switzerland, Oslo, USA, China and Luxembourg. These leases typically
runfor a maximum of 5 years with an option to renew when they expire. Lease payments are index
regulated everyyear according to the consumption price index.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, TUSD 1 485 was recognized as an expense in the income state-
mentinrespect of operating leases (2007 - 2006: TUSD 1 202 - TUSD 845).

Non-cancellable finance lease payments are payable as follows:

In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007
Less than oneyear 1264
Between one and five years 1831
Total 3095
Lessamountrepresenting interest 230
Present value of future minimum lease payments 2865
Representing 2007
Amounts duein less than one year 1222
Amounts dueinbetween one and five years 1643

The financial lease payments relates to server parks established for the purpose of hosting Age of Conan.

22.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share are calculated as the ratio of the result for the period attributable to the
equity holders of Funcom of TUSD -33 798 divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares out-
standing 52785 378 (2007: 50 087 040).

When calculating the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares out-
standing is adjusted for all the dilution effects relating to share options.

2008 2007

Profit / (loss) for the period attributable to the equity holders
of Funcom (TUSD)

Profit / (loss) for the period attributable to the equity holders
of Funcom (TUSD) - continuing operations

Issued ordinary shares as of January 1

Effect of shares issued

Effect of options excercised

Weighted average number of shares at December 31

Earnings per share
Earnings per share - continuing operations

Weighted average number of shares at December 31, basic
Effect of share options onissue
Weighted average number of shares at December 31, diluted

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share - continuing operations
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23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER OFF-BALANCE OBLIGATIONS

The Company entered into anagreementin 2004, which, if the Company cannot fulfill its obligations, may
resultinaliability of USD 100,000. As the probability for thisliability to materialize is remote, the Company
hasnotrecognized a provision in the balance sheet.

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and cash and cash equivalents denomi-
nated in other currency than United States dollars. The currencies giving rise to risk in respect of the
Group’s presentation currency are primarily Euro, Swiss franc and Norwegian Kroner. Management has
determined that USDis the appropriate presentation currency. The Group invoices allnon-EU customersin
USD, while EU customers are invoiced in Euro.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum expo-
sure to creditrisk at thereporting date was:

In thousands of US dollars Carrying amount Carrying amount
2008 2007

Loansand receivables™
Cash and Cash equivalents

* Includes long term receivables of TUSD 372 which relates to long term deposits on operational leases.
(2007: TUSD 469)

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region
was:

In thousands of US dollars Carryingamount Carrying amount
2008

North America

Europe

Otherregions

Receivables on credit card service providers amounts for TUSD 2,840 of the trade receivables carrying
amount at December 31, 2008. (2007: TUSD 105)

Impairment losses
The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

In thousands of US dollars Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2008 2008 A 2007

Not past due

Past due 0-30 days

Past due 31-120 days

More than one year

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as
follows:

In thousands of US dollars 2008
BalanceatlJanuary 25
Impairment loss recognized 38 -25
Balance at 31 December 38 .

Based on historic information the Group believes that no significant impairment allowance is necessary
for trade receivables at December 31, 2008.

@ ANNUAL REPORT | 2008 61|



Liquidityrisk

The group manages liquidity by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and borrowing facilities.
Forecast and actual cash flows are monitored on a continuous basis. The following are the contractual
maturities of non-derivative financialliabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the
impact of netting agreements. The Group has no derivative financial liabilities.

Asat December 31, 2008

In thousands of US dollars Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12
amount cash flows or less months
Trade and other payables 7,514 7,597 -7,023 =575
Long term debt 1,037 -1,110 -1,110
8,551 -8,707 7,023 -575 -1,110
As at December 31, 2007
In thousands of US dollars Carrying Contractual 6 months
amount cash flows or less
Trade and other payables 5,607 -5,816 -5,711 -105
Bank overdraft 367 -367 -367
Long term debt 1,623 -1,832 -1,832
7,597 -8,015 -6,078 -105 -1,832

Thelong term debtasat December 31, 2008 consists mainlyof financiallease payments which are due more
than 1 year from balance sheet date.

Currencyrisk
The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on carryingamounts which is considered

toberepresentative for the Group.

Asat December 31, 2008

In thousands of US dollars UsD EURO I\[0):¢ OTHER
Trade and other receivables 2,504 1811 463 25
Cashand cash equivalents 11,022 2,158 25,985 231
Trade and other payables -3,407 -2,188 2,810 -147
Net balance sheet exposure 10,119 1,781 23,639 109
As at December 31, 2007

In thousands of US dollars USD EURO I\[0):¢ OTHER
Trade and other receivables 2,020 113 1,099 282
Cashand cash equivalents 1178 331 50,515 343
Trade and other payables -2,461 -1,175 -3,452 -143
Net balance sheet exposure 737 -731 48,162 482

The following exchange rates applied during the year:

Reporting rate
Average rate Spotrate
2008 2007 2008 2007
EUR1 1.454 1.3675 1410 14729
NOK 1 0179 01725 0.142 0.1845
CHF1 0.926 0.8311 0.947 0.8875
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Sensitivity analysis

A 10 percent weakening of the US dollars compared to NOK and EUR would have increased (decreased)
equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particularinterestrates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2007.

In thousands of US dollars Equit Profit or Loss

31 December, 2008

EUR 258 247
NOK 1,830 1,139
CHF 1,914 -90
31 December, 2007

EUR 31 14
NOK 4775 4,257
CHF -38 -43

A 10 percent strengthening of the US dollars against the above currencies at December 31, would have had
the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all
other variables remain constant.

Interestraterisk
Atthebalance sheet date the Group had no fixed rate financialinstruments.

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rate at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity
and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes thatall other variables, in particular
foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysisis performed on the same basis for 2007.

In thousands of US dollars Profitor Loss Equity
100bp 100bp 100 bp 100bp
increase decrease increase decrease

31, December 2008
Variable rate instruments 343 -343 343 -343
31, December 2007

Variable rate instruments 444 -444 444 -444

Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amount

The fair values of financialassets andliabilities, compared with the carryingamounts shownin the balance
sheet are estimated to be similar to their carrying value. For trade and other payables, bank overdrafts,
trade receivables and other financial current assets and liabilities, the discount factor is not significant
due to the short-term nature of the items. Non-current borrowings are on market terms and the difference
between fair value and amortized costis not material.

In thousands of US dollars Carrying Carrying

amount amount

2008 2007
Loans and receivables 4,927 4,927 3,513 3,513
Cashand cash equivalents 39,578 39,578 52,366 52,366
Trade and other payables -8,551 -8,551 7,230 7,230
Bank overdrafts -367 -367
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25. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Identification of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see note 26), members of the Board and
with its executive officers.

Transactions with subsidiaries
There has been intercompany transactions between Group companies, these transactions have been car-
ried outatarm’slength conditions.

Remuneration to the Supervisory Board

On November 30, 2006, the General Meeting approved remuneration to the Supervisory Board and there
was noincreasein the remuneration of the Supervisory board for 2007 or 2008. On December 19, 2008, the
General Meeting approved remuneration to the Supervisory Board for the year 2009 amounting to EUR
35,000 for the Chairman and EUR 12.000 for members. The remuneration for the year 2008 amounted to
USD 77 533 and, the payment was outstanding as at year end 2008.

Remuneration to the Management Board

The CEO of the Group, who is also a member of the Management Board, received in 2008 a total remunera-
tion including pensions of USD 231 052 (2007 - 2006: USD 286 851 - USD 191 903). Jan Inge Torgersen who
was a member of the Management Board and a manager in the Groupreceived remunerationin 2008 of USD
154 405 (2007 - 2006: USD 206 185 - USD 192 146).

Remuneration to the Management Group
Overview of remuneration to management:

In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007 2006
Salaries and benefitsin kind (short-term employee benefits) 2224 1428
Share-based payments 456 97
Pension plan contributions 43 28
Total remuneration 2723 1553

The CEO of the Group received in 2008 a total remuneration including pension of USD 231 052 (2007 - 2006:
USD 286 851 - USD 191 903), he was also awarded a total of 500 000 share options in 2008 (2007: 177 500).
The exercise price is NOK 2,85 (USD 0.4). In 2008 a total of 0 options were exercised at an average exercise
price of NOK 0(USD 0). The totalallocated share options in Funcom N.V. comprised of 1,695,200 as at December
31,2008.(2007:1 695 200).

Shares owned by members of the Supervisory Board and the CEO.

CEO Trond Aashad 1,437,825 shares directly and indirectly as of December 31, 2008.(2007: 1 587 825) Hans
Peter Jebsen, a member of the Supervisory Board and his closely related parties indirectly control 107 550
Funcom shares. Hans Peter Jebsenalsoindirectly controls 49 % of Stelt Holding NV, which owns 11 950 525
Funcom shares. Chairman of the Supervisory Board Torleif Ahlsand controls 100 000 shares in Funcom
shares through his company Brownske Bevegelser AS. Pieter van Tol, a member of the Management Board
controls 500 shares. No other members of the Board have shares in Funcom.

Loans to employees
At December 31, 2008, a loan of USD 27 167 (2007: USD 27 167) was outstanding to an employee. The loan
bearsnointerestanda calculatedinterestis reported to the tax authority as a taxable benefit.
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Transactions with other related parties

A fee 0of USD 69 175 has been paid to Temmes Management Services BV.in 2008 (2007 - 2006: USD 35 929 -
USD 37 074). Temmes Management Services BV. is controlled by Management Board member P.G.C van Tol.
PG.Cvan Tolalso hasan interest in Weidema van Tol which has received a fee of USD 220 497 for legal ad-
vicein 2008(2007 - 2006: USD 226 850 - USD 63 267). Asat year end 2008 the outstanding amount between
the Group and Weidema van Tol amounted to USD 2 403 (2007: USD 6 000), and between the Group and
Temmes Management Services BV. the amount was 15 605 (2007: USD 0). For the services rendered from
both these companies the Group did not pay above market price.

The Group's auditors received a total fee of USD 159 498 (2007 - 2006: USD 220,493 - USD 215,110). The fee
isdistributed within these services and is not including VAT;

= statutoryaudit services 159498
= furtherassurance services 0
= taxadvisory services 0
= other non-audit services 0

26. GROUP ENTITIES

Group entities
The Companyis the ultimate parent company to 6 wholly owned subsidiaries.

Significant subsidiaries Country of incorporation Ownership interestin %

Funcom Oslo AS Norway
Funcom Inc United States
Funcom S.a.r.l Luxembourg
Funcom GmbH Switzerland
Funcom Sales GmbH* Switzerland
Funcom Beijing GmbH** Switzerland
Plutolife AS Norway

* Funcom Sales GmbH was foundedin 2007
** Funcom Beijing GmbH was founded by Funcom GmbH and Funcom NV. in 2007. Funcom GmbH holds
1share equal to 3% of the outstanding shares in Funcom Beijing GmbH.
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27.RISK, ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
27.1 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 2, managementis required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on his-
toricalexperienceandother factors thatareconsidered toberelevant. Actualresults may differ from these
estimates.

Development costs and technology

The Group has significant capitalized values of development costs and technology. An asset can only be
recognized if certain specific criteria are met. During a development project there will be judgment in-
volved in assessing when the research phase ends and the development phase commences.

Intangibleassets should be tested forimpairment whenthereisanindicator thattheasset maybeimpaired.
The impairment tests include management’s estimates and judgments about future cash flows and dis-
countratesapplied that couldlead toasignificantimpactonthe Group's futureresults. Seenote 10 for more
information.

Useful life of intangible fixed assets

The useful life of the company’s games is subject to reassessment at each year end. The estimated useful
lifeissubject touncertaintyand judgment and theactual outcome may differ significantly from the initial
estimate.

Currencyrisk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and cash and cash equivalents denomi-

natedinother currency than United Statesdollars. Large variations in Euro or Norwegian kroner exchange
rate compared to US dollars could significantly influence the Group'’s income statement. Even if manage-
ment would implement an active hedging policy, a currency related risk, which may have animpact on the
income statement, would still exist. At present, the Groups cash positionin Norwegian kronerissignificant
compared toits totalassets denominated in US dollars. The majority of the operational expenses is denomi-
natedin Norwegiankronerandis perceived by the managementasa natural hedge against the large position
in Norwegian kroners. See note 25 for a further analysis on the impact of currency fluctuations.

Deferred tax
The Group’s tax losses have arisen primarily in the Swiss subsidiaries.

The Group’s temporary differences between the carrying value and the tax base of assets are primarily
located in the Swiss and Norwegian subsidiaries.

Inevaluating the Group'sabilitytoutilize the deferred tax assets, allavailable positive and negative evidence
havebeen considered,including past operating results, the existence of cumulativelossesin the most recent
fiscal years and our forecast of future taxable income on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis, as well as fea-
sible and prudent tax planning strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment.
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27.2 CAPITALMANAGEMENT

Capital management

The Supervisory Board policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidenceand to sustain future development of the business. The Supervisory Board monitors the
return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity,
excluding minorityinterests.

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that options tosubscribe for sharesin the Companyarean effective
incentive for the Funcom Group's employees and board members. The Company has therefore established a
shareincentive programmein order tostimulate continued growth and further development of the Group’s
business.

There were nochanges in the group’s approach to capital management during the year.

27.3 RISKS

Management has discussed the various risks in Funcom in and the implications of these risks. The risks
described below do not constitute a fulllist of the risks the Company is exposed to. Additional risk factors
mayalsoimpair the Company’s operations.

REVENUE RISKS

Dependence on performance of Age of Conan

Funcom's future income is highly influenced by the performance of the Age of Conan MMO. If Age of Conan
attains low subscriber numbers there will be a negative impact on future cash flows and the valuation of
Funcom. Furthermore, the game is intended to be one of the funding sources for the development of other
titles,andlower cashinflows thanexpected could also have anindirect effectin terms of reduced revenues,
earningsand cash flows from other games and the future funding requirements of the Company.

Dependence on the attractiveness of the Conan brand

The success of the Age of Conan game is dependent on the attractiveness of the Conan brand. The Conan
brand is owned by CPI and the overall brand development is therefore not in the control of Funcom,
although Funcom contributes to brand development through its Age of Conan game.

Dependence on consumer satisfaction

Thecommercialsuccess of Funcom's gamesis toahigh degree dependent on consumer satisfaction. Consumer
satisfaction is dependent on the perceived fun factor, quality of service of the supportand error correction
services. Even though the Company strives to ensure high consumer satisfaction there is a risk that the
consumers will be unsatisfied with Funcom products, the support and the number of bugs and errors in the
products. Consumer satisfaction mayalso be affected by the gaming community related to the game.

Ratingrisks
Funcom is, as a developer of mature games, exposed to the risk that rating agencies in the various markets

will set the allowed age level to play the Funcom games too high or too low and thereby potentially limiting
the addressable market. Rating agencies may also change their rating policies, or fine Funcom for rating
breaches, although Funcom always strives to adhere to rating regulations. Funcom may also receive the at-
tention of specialinterest organizations focusing on the gaming industry, both through PR campaigns and
through legal procedures. Actions of disloyal employees or outside parties by introducing unknown and
controversial materialinto the games of the Company may constitute a risk for penalties or other actions
fromrating agencies.

Reviews

The commercial success of Funcom's MMOs maybe, toahigh degree, dependent on favorable reviews by the
major gaming publications and sites. Should Funcom fail to meet the expectations this may have a negative
effectin the review scores of its game and thereby potentially on the sales potential of the games.
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DEVELOPMENT RISKS

Delay of product releases

For the current development projects, Funcom has a strong focus on making plans, analyzing risks, esti-
mating timeneeded in each project phase and measuring progress. There is, however, an inherent develop-
ment timeline risk in all software development, including in MMO game software development, and there
isnoassurance that development schedules will be held. If Funcom does not manage to release their games
at the planned dates, the development budgets of the games may increase. There isalsoarisk that competi-
torswill gain a foothold in the market at the expense of Funcom or that the games will be less competitive
when launched due to advances of competitors, making users less willing to spend additional time and
money on new games from Funcom.

Unsuccessful projects under development

Currently, there is a number of MMOs in development worldwide. Hence, consumers will have a number of
options to choose between. Through the history of MMOs, the market has never accommodated many top-
selling products at any one time. Even though the number of serious competitors to Funcom in the large
scale MMO-space, developers with the necessary skills, experience, and technological and financial re-
sources in place, is limited, thereis arisk that one or more of Funcom's games could be unsuccessful.

Difficultiesin recruitingandloss of key employees

Funcomis dependent on the ability to recruit, motivateand retain highly skilled technical, managerialand
marketing personnel. Funcom may experience difficulties in recruiting, motivating and retaining the nec-
essaryexpertiseand key employees, or may need to pay higher compensation, which could adverselyaffect
operating results. Further, it should be taken into consideration that workers from countries outside the
EEA must have work permit to work in Norway, and that such permits can be difficult to obtain. The docu-
mentation and formalization of internal information, routines and processes have not always been of
today'sstandard. Therefore, thereisarisk of losing vitalinformation if key employees, for various reasons,
leave Funcom.

External parties
Funcom's success depends also partly on the ability of the Company’s partners to effectively fulfill their

commitments. Funcom has partners in the areas of hosting and server administration, billing, publishing,
salesand distribution, hardware as well as other areas such as co-development of free-to-play MMOs.

Difficulties in enforcing the Company’s intellectual property and proprietaryrights

Funcom's success depends on its proprietary game technology. Funcom relies on a combination of trade se-
cret, copyright and trademark laws, non-disclosure agreements and contractual provisions to protect its
proprietary rights. International copyright and trademark laws protect Funcom's technology. Existing
trade secrets and copyright laws afford only limited protection, and unauthorized parties may attempt to
copy aspects of Funcom'’s proprietary rights or to obtain and use information and technology that Funcom
regards as proprietary. In addition, the laws of some foreign jurisdictions do not protect Funcom's proprie-
tary rights in the same manner and to the same extent as the laws of the US, Switzerland and Norway do.
There can be no assurance that the steps taken by the Funcom to protect its proprietary rights will be
adequate.

Intellectual Property Rights of others

Funcom operatesinacompetitiveindustry Technologyis evolving atafast paceand innovating companies
develop solutions in relatively close technological proximity. This poses the risk that the Company could
inadvertently encroach upon the protected rights of others, including rights protected by patents. This is
thenature of theindustryin which Funcom operates. Funcomis aware of the fact that there maybe patents
potentially forming basis of infringement claims. US patents and/or litigation in the US are particularly
worrisome because there are a large number of US software patents in existence. There is also to a greater
extentaculture for opportunistic patentlitigationin the US.Infringement on copyrights, designrightsand
trademark law could surface as well. There is always an inherent risk of substantial claims related to
infringement of intellectual property rights. Such claims could also have a negative impact on the various
contracts of the company because infringement of intellectual property rights is likely to be construed as
amaterial breach of contract.
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TECHNICAL RISKS

Technological risks

The successful operation of an MMO depends on a large number of complicated hardware and software
compornents that need to work successfully together. Anyerrors, bugs or viruses in any software may harm
the operation of the MMOs and thus have an adverse effect on Funcom's ability to gain revenues. Similarly
anyerrors, power failures, shortcuts etc.inany hardware component may harm the operation of the MMOs
and thus have an adverse effect on Funcom’s ability to gain revenues. Further, the games Funcom develop
may not perform equally well on all PC configurations - impacting sales negatively. Although Funcom
endeavors to reduce the technological risks before a game launch and during the operations of a game,
theserisks willalways be present to some degree at launch.

Hacking
Funcom's MMOs may be subject to hacking activities. Any hacking activity may affect Funcom's ability to

operateits MMOs, which will affect Funcom'’s ability to gain revenues.

Risks related to the Internet

Funcom's MMOs are operated on the Internet. Funcom's revenues are therefore dependent on the continued
and uninterrupted operation of the Internet. Any adverse incident, hereunder but not limited to bugs,
viruses, worms, etc.affecting the Internet may affect Funcom’s ability to gain revenues.

Theft or loss of source code

Funcom's source codeisstoredina fireproof safe, butisalsoavailable to employees working on the Company’s
games. Should all or parts of the source code be stolen or lost, this may affect Funcom's ability to gain rev-
enues or reduce its technological edge in the market.

ECONOMIC RISKS

Macroeconomic fluctuations

Funcom is exposed to the economic cycle, since changes in the general economic situation could affect
demand for Funcom's products. Computer games are used for entertainment and therefore the demand
may decline during recession when disposable income decreases.

Variability of operating results etc.

Funcom's operating results mayvary from month to month. Funcom'’s operating result maybe hard to forecast
due to unpredictable demand for its products, the competitive environment, other general economic and
market conditions and unanticipated difficulties in pursuing Funcom’s business strategy.

Changesinthe gamingindustryin general
The market for Funcom'’s products and services is competitive and trend oriented. Failure of Funcom to

maintain competitive productsand services offering could havea materialadverse effect on Funcom.If the
generally expected market growth fails to materialize, the profitability of MMOs is likely to suffer.

Contracts

Non-Swiss and non-Norwegian law governs several of Funcom's agreements. In addition, dispute resolution
is set to venues in different places in Europe and the US. This may increase the legal risk and increase the
costs in connection with the enforcement of any specific agreement.

International operations

Operations in international markets are subject to risks inherent in international business activities, in-
cluding in particular general economic conditions in each such country, overlapping differing tax struc-
tures, managingan organization spread over various jurisdictions, currency fluctuations,and unexpected
changesinregulatoryrequirements and complying with a variety of foreign laws and regulations.
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Currency fluctuations

Because a considerable share of Funcom's business is conducted in currencies other than its functional
currency, Funcom will be exposed to volatility associated with foreign currency exchange rates. Funcom
invoices all non-EU customers in USD, while EU customers are invoiced in EUR. The operational costs of
Funcom are to a large extent in NOK. At present, the Groups cash position in Norwegian kroner is signifi-
cant compared to its total assets denominated in US dollars. The majority of the operational expenses is
denominated in Norwegian kroner and is perceived by the management as a natural hedge against the
large position in Norwegian kroners. See note 25 for a further analysis on the impact of currency fluctua-
tions. See note 24 for further information.

Tax exposure
The Company is incorporated in the Netherlands with subsidiaries in Norway, Switzerland, Luxembourg

and the USA. The Group also has a representative office in China. The overall tax charge will depend on
where profits are accumulated and taxed since these countries have different tax systems and tax rates.
The Funcom Group is today taxed under a number of different legal systems with different laws for tax
residency, tax credits and tax exemption rules. Consequently, the Funcom Group is exposed to changes of
tax policies and changes of tax legislations, proactively and/or retroactively. The Company is of the view
that it reports profits and losses in accordance with tax rules applicable to the Funcom Group. The tax au-
thorities in the jurisdictions where the Funcom Group operatesare not bound by the judgment of the Company,
and there can be no assurance that they will agree with it. If one or more of the relevant tax authorities
challenges the Company’s view, this may resultin anincreased overall tax charge.

VAT exposure
The Group generates sales transactions from potentially all over the world. Because of this, the Group is

exposedtodifferent VATissues. Should the group fail to comply with the different regulations it mightlead
toreal cash costs, includingirrecoverable VAT, penalties, and interest.

Deferred taxasset
The Group’s tax losses are primarilylocated in the Swiss companies.

The Group's negative differences between the book value and the value for tax purposes of assets, which
form the basis for the deferred tax assets, are primarily located in the Swiss and Norwegian subsidiaries.

The management has discussed to which extent the Group will be able to utilize the deferred tax asset, and
hasadjusted theamountin thebalance sheetaccordingly.

In evaluating the Group's ability to utilize the deferred tax assets, all available positive and negative evi-
dence have been considered, including past operating results, the existence of cumulative losses in the
mostrecent fiscal years and our forecast of future taxable income on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis, as
well as feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment
about the forecasts of future taxable income and are consistent with the plans and estimates Funcom
managementare using to run the underlying businesses.

28.EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

InJanuaryand February 2009 the Group launchedlocalized versions of Age of Conanin Poland and in Russia
with positive gamer and press reception.

On February 23, 2009 Olav Sandnes gave notice of resignation from his position as CFO for the Group.
Mr. Sandnesisleaving the companyin order to take upanew positionina differentindustry.

OnMarch 5,2009, 2032 800 options to acquire shares were granted to key personnel in Funcom. One third
of the options are vested each of the three years subsequent to the date of grant. The exercise of these
optionsis subject to the Standard Terms under the Share Incentive Program of Funcom N.V.. The exercise
price of the granted options is equal to the weighted market price of the shares 5 trade days prior and 5
trade daysafter the date of grant.

There have been no material events other than as described above between December 31, 2008 and the date
of authorization that would require adjustments of the consolidated financial statements or disclosure.
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Funcom N.V.
Company Profit and Loss

For theyearending 31.12.2008

In thousands of US dollars 2008

Results from participating interestafter tax
Otherincomeand expensesafter tax
Net result from ordinary activities after taxation
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Company Balance Sheet

After appropriation of result

|

In thousands of US dollars Note 12/31/08 12/31/07
Investmentin and receivables from group companies 12 58,158 92,551
Financial fixed assets 58,158

Prepays and other receivables 740

Cashand cash equivalents 181

Total current assets 921

Totalassets 59,079

Issued capital 3 2,979 3,109
Share premium 6 121,895 120,916
Legalreserves 7 26,647 99,936
Retained earnings 8 -93,168 -131,876
Total equity

Accrued expenses

Provisions 10

Other current liabilities 3

Total current liabilities

Total equity and liabilities
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Notes to the Company Financial
Statements

PRINCIPLES OF VALUATIONS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The company financial statements for Funcom NV. have been prepared inaccordance with Part 9, Book 2 of
the Netherlands Civil Code. The valuation of assets and liabilities and the calculation of the net result con-
form with the accounting principles applied in the consolidated annual accounts, except for participations
which are valued at net asset value rather than at cost. This means that Funcom N.V.'s shareholders’ equity
and netresultare the same asin the consolidated accounts.

An abridged Company Income statement is presented in accordance with section 402 of Book 2 of the
Netherlands Civil Code.

1.INVESTMENT IN AND RECEIVABLES FROM GROUP COMPANIES

In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007
Receivables non-current 16,067
Shares 76,484

92,551

2. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

The Company holds the following investments in subsidiary companies at December 31, 2008:

Significant subsidiaries Countryofincorporation Ownershipinterestin %
2008

Funcom Oslo AS Norway
Funcom Inc United States
Funcom S.a.rl Luxembourg
Funcom GmbH Switzerland
Funcom Sales GmbH* Switzerland
Funcom Beijing GmbH** Switzerland
Plutolife AS Norway

Funcom Sales GmbH was founded in 2007
* Funcom Beijing GmbH was founded by Funcom GmbH and Funcom NV. in 2007. Funcom GmbH holds
1shareequal to 3% of the outstanding shares in Funcom Beijing GmbH.

The movement ininvestments in subsidiary companies canbe summarized as follows:

In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007
Balanceat 01.01 9120
Exchange difference 629
Result of the year 2
Change in participation 66,770
Other movements -36
Balance31.12 76,484
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3.0THER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other current liabilitiesin 2008 and 2007 relate to service providers.

4.1SSUED CAPITAL

The number of outstanding ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.04 was on

= January1, 52769625
= December 31 52832125

At December 31, 2008, the authorized share-capital comprised of 56,25 million ordinary shares (2007:56,25
million). The nominal value of the sharesis Euro 0.04.The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividendsasdeclared from time to timeand are entitled to onevote per shareat the Companyshareholders’
meetings.

The share-capitalis translated into US dollars at the December 31, 2008 exchange rate of EUR/USD 1.4097

Options
Totalauthorized optionsat December 31, 2008 amounted to 3 000 000 refer to EGM in December 2008(2007:

2 250 000). On December 31, 2008, the number of outstanding options allocated to managers and key per-
sonnelamounted to 1 716 568 shares (2007: 1 695 200).

For options outstanding as at December 31, 2006, the exercise period is from December 15, 2006 until June
15, 2008 and if converted into shares, the shares may only be sold after an approval from the Board until
December 15, 2008. The option holders lose the option if the employment with the Company ceases.

For the options granted in 2007 (845 200), the exercise periodis from March 1, 2008 to June 1, 2010 with 1/3
of the options each year. The option holders lose the optionif the employment with the Company ceases.

On March 1, 2007 585,200 options were allocated, and on June 14, 2007 260,000 options were allocated.

On February 26, 2008 the Companyissued additional 443 500 optionsasa part of the Group's options program.
The options vest with 33.33% each 1 year, 2yearsand 3 years from grant. The average exercise price is the
volume weighted average trade price on Oslo stock exchange 5 days prior and 5 days after the grant.

On December 19, 2008 the Company issued additional 850 000 options as a part of the Group’s options pro-
gram. 25% of the options veston May 21, 2009, and the remaining options vest on May 21, 2010. The average
exercise price is the volume weighted average trade price on Oslo stock exchange 5 days prior and 5 days
after the grant

Share issuances

On May 21, 2007 the Company issued 275 000 shares from options. The issued shares were paid in cash at
EUR 0.43 per share (USD 0.63). Gross proceeds amounted to EUR 118 250 (USD160 299) Total number of
issued sharesafter this transaction was 48 019 625.

On July 16, 2007 the Company issued 4 700 000 shares in a private placement .The issued shares were paid
in cash at NOK 38.50 per share (USD 6.48). Gross proceeds amounted to NOK 180 950 000 (USD 30 490 075)
Total number of issued shares after this transaction was 52 719 625.

On November 12, 2007 the Companyissued 50,000 shares from options. Theissued shares were paidin cash
at EUR 0.43 per share (USD 0,63). Gross proceeds amounted to EUR 21,500 (USD 31,568) Total number of
issued sharesafter this transactionwas 52 769 625.

In 2007, transaction costs of USD 1 322 371 in connections with capital increases were charged directly
against share premium (2006: USD 891 119)

In September 2008 the Company issued 62 500 shares from options (see note 16 for further information),
The issued shares were paid in cash at EUR 0.49 per share (USD 0.69). Gross proceeds amounted to EUR 30
625 (USD 40 114) Total number of issued shares after this transaction was 52 832 125.

On December 19, 2008 Funcom held an Extraordinary General Meeting where, pursuant to Section 4.1 of
Funcom NV's articles of association, the Board of Supervisory Directors were authorized to issue new
shares in Funcom NV. up to a maximum of 10 % of the issued capital of Funcom NV. as per the date of the
Meeting and to determine the terms and conditions of each and any such issuance(s). This designation of
the Board of Supervisory Directorsis valid for 2 years from the date of the Meeting.
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The Board of Supervisory Directors were also, designate (aanwijzen), pursuant to Section 4.9and 4.1 of Funcom
N.V’sarticles of association, authorized toissue up toa maximum 3 000 000 (three million) rights to acquire
shares in the capital of Funcom NV. and to determine the terms and conditions of each and any such
issuance(s). This designation of the Board of Supervisory Directors is valid for 2 years from the date of the
Meeting.

The Board of Supervisory Directors were also, pursuant to Section 4.3 of the Funcom NV's articles of
association authorized tolimit or exclude the pre-emptive rights of the shareholders of Funcom NV.inrela-
tion to each or any issuance of shares, or granting of rights toacquire shares, in the capital of Funcom N.V.
This designation of the Board of Supervisory Directors is also valid for 2 years from the date of the
Meeting.

Lastly, in this extraordinary general meeting, pursuant to Section 5.1 under c. of the Funcom N.V's articles
of association, the Board of Managing Directors were authorized for a period of 18 months from the date of
the Meeting toacquire a maximum 10 % of theissued and outstanding sharesin the capital of Funcom N.V.
under the condition that such shares are traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange and their price is below NOK
15.

Under the Dutch Major Holdings Disclosure Act, shareholdings of 5 % or more in any Dutch company must
be disclosed to the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM). According to the register kept
by the AFM the following shareholders had disclosed that they owned more than 5 % of the Company’s total
share capital on January 1, 2009:

. Stelt Holding N.V. (22,62 %)
. Northzone IV K/S (10,32 %)
. Nordic Venture Partners (9,86 %)

5.SHARE-CAPITAL
In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007

Balanceat 01.01 2,522
Exchange 314
Addition share-capital 273
Balance31.12 3,109

6.SHARE PREMIUM
In thousands of US dollars 2008 2007

Balanceat01.01 120,916 91,818
Share based payments 855
Change in provision for capital duty 87

Addition share premium 36 29,098
Balance 31.12 121,895 120,916

7. LEGAL RESERVES

Legalreserves are non distributable to shareholders.

8. RETAINED EARNINGS

In thousands of US dollars 2007
Balanceat01.01 -53,084
Exchange effect on share-capital -314
Exchange effect on subsidiaries 629
Employee options 593
Movement tolegal reserves -82,076
This year’s result 2,318
Other movements 58
Balanceat31.12 -131,876
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9.SHAREBASED PAYMENTS

The options allocated are expensed as share based payment in the subsidiary where the optionholders are
employed.

10. PROVISIONS

Dutch capital dut 2008 2007

BalanceatJanuaryl -621
Interest calculation 22
Aging of claims

Exchange 72
Balanceat December 31 713

The Company isin dispute with the Dutch tax authorities in respect of outstanding capital duty liabilities
as of 31 December 2008. The potential cost of this disallowance to the Company is around TUSD 628 (in-
cluding interest) (2007.TUSD 715). The Company believes it has arguments to dispute the capital duty lia-
bilitiesand has filed formalappeals with the Dutch tax courtin respect of some of the disputed capital duty
liabilities. The Dutch lower tax court ruled in favor of the Dutch tax authoritiesin respect of 1 outstanding
capital dutyliability (TUSD 283). However, the Company filed anappealagainst this decision with the Dutch
tax court. The Companyis awaiting response from the Dutch tax court and cannot estimate the outcome of
the proceedings at this time.

11. EMPLOYEES

The average number of employees in Funcom N.V. for 2008 was 0 (2007: 0).

12. REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE MANAGING BOARD

Totalremuneration

The remuneration to the members of the Managing Board is determined by the remuneration committee
within the framework of the remuneration policy for 2007 and subsequent years as approved by the share-
holders meeting on July 16, 2007. More details about the remuneration policy are included in the remunera-
tion report.

The total remuneration (including pension expenditures and other commitments) of the members of the
Managing Board amounted to USD 385 407 (2007: USD 493,036). The remuneration of the individual members
of the Managing Board was as follows:

The CEO of the Group, whoisalsoa member of the Management Board, received in 2008a total remuneration
including pensions of USD 231 052 (2007 - 2006: USD 286 851 - USD 191 903). Jan Inge Torgersen who was a
member of the Management Board and a manager in the Group received remunerationin 2008 of USD 154
405 (2007 - 2006:USD 206 185 -USD 192 146).
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Outstanding and exercised stock incentives
The following table shows the stock incentives of the individual members of the members of the Manag-
ing Board

Overview of stock options

Year of issuance Outstanding In 2008 Outstanding Exercise price Expiry
on Dec. 31, on Dec. 31, date
2007 |Granted Exercised Forfeited/ 2008
Expired
Trond Arne Aas
Stock options 2005 125,000 125,000 EUR0.43 12/15/08
2005 125,000 125,000 EUR0.43 12/15/08
2005 125,000 125,000 EUR0.43 12/15/08
2007 9,167 9,167 NOK 1778 9/1/08
2007 9,167 SRy NOK 17.78 9/1/09
2007 9,167 SRy NOK 17.78 9/1/10
2007 50,000 50,000 NOK 35.77 9/1/08
2007 50,000 SIONOJO[oN NOK 35.77 9/1/09
2007 50,000 SIONOJO[oN NOK 35.77 9/1/10
2008 166,666 ISeRelelsl NOK 2.85 12/19/09
2008 166,666 ISeRelelsl NOK 2.85 12/19/10
2008 166,668 SIS NOK 2.85 12/19/11
Total 552,500 500,000 434,167 618,334
Of which vested 375,000
JanInge
Torgersen
Stock options 2005 EUR0.43 12/15/08
2005 EUR0.43 12/15/08
2005 EUR0.43 12/15/08
2007 5,000 5,000 NOK 1778 1/9/08
2007 5,000 5,000 NOK 1778 1/9/09
2007 5,000 5,000 NOK 1778 1/9/10
2007 20,000 20,000 NOK 35.77 1/9/08
2007 20,000 20,000 NOK 35.77 1/9/09
2007 20,000 20,000 NOK 35.77 1/9/10
Total 75,000 75,000
Of which vested
Pieter van Tol
Stock options 2008 16,666 NOK 2.85 12/19/09
2008 16,667 NOK 2.85 12/19/10
2008 16,667 NOK 2.85 12/19/11
Total 50,000
Of which vested
Shares

At year end 2008 the members of the Managing Board held 1 438 325 shares (year end 2007: 1 607 825)

Loans
The company does not provide any loans to members of the Managing Board.
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13.REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Therehasbeennoincreasein the remuneration of the Supervisory Boardin 2008 and the total outstanding
fee for 2008 at December 31, 2008 amounted to EUR 55,000 (USD 77 533) (2007: EUR 57,000 - USD 77 682).
For 2009 the remuneration for the Supervisory Board will increase as approved by the Extraordinary
General Meeting held on December 19, 2008.

Theremuneration of the individual members of the Supervisory Board was as follows:

in € Annual fixed fee Total]
Torleif Ahlsand (chairman) 25,000 25,000
Hans Peter Jebsen 8,000 8,000
Claus Hejbjerg Andersen 8,000 8,000
Michel Cassius 8,000 8,000
Frank Sagnier 2,000 2,000
Pieter van Tol 4,000 4,000
Total 55,000 55,000

Stock options
The following table outlines the conditions for the options granted to the Supervisory Board members:

Overview of stock options

Year of issuance Outstanding In 2008 Outstanding Exercise price Expiry]
onDec. 31, on Dec. 31, date

2007 |Granted Exercised Forfeited/ 2008
Expired

Michel Cassius

Stock options 2007 16,666 16,666 NOK 35.77 1/9/08
2007 16,667 NOK 35.77 1/9/09
2007 16,667 NOK 35.77 1/9/10
2008 12,500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10
2008 37,500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10

Total 50,000 50,000 16,666

Of which vested

Frank Sagnier

Stock options 2008 12,500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10
2008 37,500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10

Total 50,000

Of which vested

Claus Hejbjerg

Andersen

Stock options 2008 12,500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10
2008 37500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10

Total 50,000

Of which vested

Hans Peter Jebsen

Stock options 2008 12,500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10
2008 37500 NOK 2.85 11/21/10

Total 50,000

Of which vested

Torleif Ahlsand

Stock options 2008 25,000 ANOR NOK 2.85 11/21/10
2008 75,000 yENeR NOK 2.85 11/21/10

Total 100,000 100,000

Of which vested
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14. AUDIT FEES
The Group's auditors received a total fee of USD 129 423 (2007 - 2006: USD 220,493 - USD 215,110). The fee
isdistributed within these services and is not including VAT;

=statutory audit services 129423
= furtherassurance services 0
= tax advisory services 0
=other non-audit services 0

15.TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

A fee of USD 0 has been paid to Temmes Management Services BV. in 2008 (2007 - 2006: USD 0 - USD 0).
Temmes Management Services BV. is controlled by Management Board member PG.Cvan Tol. PG.Cvan Tol
also has an interest in Weidema van Tol which has received a fee of USD 133 620 for legal advice in 2008
(2007 -2006:USD 141 652 -USD 46 505). As at yearend 2008 the outstanding amount between the Company
and Weidema van Tol amounted to USD 2 403 (2007: USD 6 000), and between the Company and Temmes
Management Services BV. the amount was 15 605 (2007: USD 0). For the services rendered from both these
companies the Group did not pay above market price.
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Bl MAzARS

To: the sharehalders of Funcom N,

AUDITOR'S REPORT

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2008 of Funcom N.V., Katwijk.
The financial statements consist of the consolidated financial statements and the company
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements comprise the consclidated bal-
ance sheet as at 31 December 2008, the consolidated profit and loss account, statement of
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of sig-
nificant accounting policies and other explanatcry notes. The company financial statements
comprise the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2008, the company profit and loss
account for the year then ended and the noles.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY

The Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the fi-
nancial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Cade,
and for the preparation of the management board report in accordance with Part 9 of Book
2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error: selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the company's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the com-
pany’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.

MAZARS PAARDEKOOPER HOFFMAN ACCOUNTAMNTS N.V
Mazars ToOweR, DELFLANDLAAN 1 - P.O, nox 7266 « 1007 |G AMsTERDAM - amsterdam. audit@mazars.nl
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MAZARS

OFINION WITH RESPECT TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinian, the cansolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Funcom NV, as at 31 Dacember 2008, and of its result and its cash fiow for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporing Standards as adopted
by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

OPINION WITH RESPECT TO THE COMPANY FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinign, the company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Funcom NV, as at 31 Decamber 2008, and of its result far the year then ended
in accordance with Part & of Book 2 of the Metherlands Civil Code.

REFORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Fursuant to the legal requirement under 2:383 sub & part T of the Netherlands Civil Code,

we repoit, to the extent of cur competence, that the Report of the Management Board is
consistent with the financial statements as required by 2:391 sub 4 of the Natherlands Civil

Code,

Amsterdam, 13 March 2009

MAZARS PAARDEKOOPER HOFFMAN ACCOUNTANTS N.Y.

was signed by drs R.C.H M. Horsmans RA Ry



Funcom N.V.
Other information

STATUTORY ARRANGEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE APPROPRIATION OF THE RESULT FOR THE YEAR
In accordance with Article 24.1 of the Company’s statutes, the result for the year is at the disposal of the
shareholdersin general meeting.

PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF THE RESULT FOR THE YEAR

The Supervisory directors propose to allocate the loss for the year to uncovered losses.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

InJanuaryand February 2009 the Group launched localized versions of Age of Conanin Poland and in Russia
with positive gamer and press reception.

On February 23, 2009 Olav Sandnes gave notice of resignation from his position as CFO for the Group. Mr.
Sandnesisleaving the companyin order to take up a new position in a differentindustry.

On March 5, 2009, 2 032800 options to acquire shares were granted to key personnel in Funcom.

One third of the options are vested each of the three years subsequent to the date of grant. The exercise of
these options is subject to the Standard Terms under the Share Incentive Program of Funcom NV. The
exercise price of the granted optionsis equal to the weighted market price of the shares 5 trade days prior
and 5 trade days after the date of grant.

There havebeennoother materialevents than described above between December 31, 2008 and the date of
authorization that would require adjustments of the consolidated financial statements or disclosure.

Responsibility Statement

In accordance with best practice I1.1.4 of the Dutch corporate governance code of December 2003, taking
intoaccount therecommendation of the Corporate Governance Code Monitoring Committee on the application
thereof, the Managing Board confirms that internal controls over financial reporting provide a reasonable
level of assurance that thefinancialreporting doesnot containany materialinaccuracies,and confirms that
these controls functioned properlyinthe yearunderreviewand that thereare noindications that they will
not continue to do so. The financial statements fairly represent the company’s financial condition and the
results of the company’s operations and provide the required disclosures.

It should be noted that the above does notimply that these systems and procedures provide absoluteassurance
as to therealization of operational and strategic business objectives, or that they can prevent all misstate-
ments, inaccuracies, errors, fraud and non-compliances with legislation, rules and regulations.

With reference to section 5.25¢, paragraph Zc of the Financial Markets Supervision Act, the Board of Man-
agement states that, to the best of its knowledge:

= Theannualfinancialstatements of 2008 give a trueand fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the Company and its consolidated companies; and

= The Annual Report gives a true and fair view of the position as per December 31, 2008, the development
during 2008 of the Companyandits Group companiesincludedin theannual financial statements, together
with a description of principal risks the Group faces.
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Investor Relations Policy for
Funcom N.V.

Funcom is committed to providing the financial markets with precise, relevant, timely and consistent
information on matters that are of material significance for the valuation of securities issued by the Com-
pany whenever Funcom is the appropriate source for such information. Funcom strives to ensure that the
information it provides to the financial markets gives market players the best possible basis to establish a
precise picture of the Company's financial condition and factors that may affectits future value creation.

This IR policy was approved by the Funcom Supervisory Board on 21 March 2007. The policy has since been
revisited and approved by Supervisory Board in February 2008 and in February 2009.

EQUALTREATMENT

Funcom uses the Oslo Bers company message system to ensure the simultaneous release of price sensitive
information to the financial markets. The Company's web site is the principal source of other information
on Funcom for the financial markets. In addition financial and Company information can be found at the
Dutch Chamber of Commercein the Netherlands. The website: www.kvk.nl

Funcom applies a consistent policy to the release of information regardless of whether the contentsareofa
positive or negative character.

SPOKESPEOPLEFORTHE COMPANY

The Management Board and the Chief Financial Officer are the Company's spokesmen for contact with the
financial markets.

PUBLICATION OF PRICE SENSITIVE INFORMATION

Funcom routinely and promptly publishes information in respect of material contracts and investment
spendingand any other material changes or events that might have an effect on the Company’s share price
once the decision in question has been taken at the appropriate level in the group and, where relevant,
agreement has beenreached with the appropriate third party. It is the Company's policy not to comment on
rumours or speculation about such matters.
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GUIDANCE

Funcom does not provide guidance on quantitative targets for the Company’s future turnover, earnings,
return on equity or cash flow. Following the close of each quarter, the Company publishes the Company’s
view on general market conditions in the industry in which it operates.

IAND MARKET EXPECTATIONS

Funcom routinely monitors the research reports and forecasts published about the Company. If Funcom
becomesaware of a significant positive or negative discrepancybetween the development of the Company’s
turnover or earnings and the level of expectations in the financial markets for the current financial year,

asexpressed byearnings forecasts,itwilladvise the market of the discrepancybyissuingastock exchange
announcement.

The Company mayagree toreview research reports prior to their publication, butits comments will be lim-
ited to correcting errors of fact and any errors in the presentation of information that the Company has
itself released to the market through stock exchange announcements or by publication on its web site. Funcom
will not make any comment on earnings forecasts or any other form of evaluation produced by investment
analysts orinvestors.

Funcom does not distribute research or reports on the Company produced by third parties, and will only
inform potentialinvestors of all of the investment banks that routinely follow the Company.

SILENT PERIOD

For a period of four weeks prior to the publication of each interim quarterly report, Funcom will minimise
its contact with investment analysts, investors and journalists. This policy has been adopted to minimise
therisk of anyunequal treatment of different partiesin the market.
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Financial Calendar for Funcom
2009

Funcom NV will publish its financial statements on the following dates in 2009:

= Monday 23 February -Q4 2008
= Friday 15 May -Q1 2009
= Wednesday 26 August -Q2 2009

= Thursday 12 November - Q3 2009
IAnnual general meeting: May 21, 2009

The dates are subject to change.
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Contact Details

uncom N.V.
Zircherstrasse 59
8800 Thalwil
Switzerland

‘ .

uncom GmbH
Zircherstrasse 59
8800 Thalwil
Switzerland

‘

uncom Sales GmbH
Zircherstrasse 59
8800 Thalwil
Switzerland

‘

‘

uncom S.a.r.l.
102 Rue des Maraichers
2124 Luxemburg
Luxemburg

uncom Oslo AS
Drammensveien 167
0277 OSLO
Norway

‘

uncom Inc
Po Box 14390
Durham, NC27709
USA

‘

‘

uncom Rep Office
1805 Kuntai International Apartment
B12 Chao Wai Street
Beijing 100020
PR.China
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